AMICUS THERAPEUTICS INC Form SC 13G/A February 14, 2017

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISS WASHINGTON, DC 20549	SION
SCHEDULE 13G	

(Amendment No. 4)*

Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.
(Name of Issuer)

Common Stock, \$0.01 par value per share
(Title of Class of Securities)

Under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

03152W109 (CUSIP Number)

December 31, 2016 (Date of Event Which Requires Filing of this Statement)

Check the appropriate box to designate the rule pursuant to which this Schedule is filed: [X] Rule 13d-1(b)

[_] Rule 13d-1(c)

[_] Rule 13d-1(d)

*The remainder of this cover page shall be filled out for a reporting person's initial filing on this form with respect to the subject class of securities, and for any subsequent amendment containing information which would alter the disclosures provided in a prior cover page.

The information required in the remainder of this cover page shall not be deemed to be "filed" for the purpose of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 ("Act") or otherwise subject to the liabilities of that section of the Act but shall be subject to all other provisions of the Act (however, see the Notes).

CUSIP	No.	03152W	109

9.97%

C	JSIF NO. 03132 W 109	
1.	NAME OF REPORTING PERSONS I.R.S. IDENTIFICATION NOS. OF ABOVE PERSONS (ENTITIES ONLY)	
	Redmile Group, LLC	
2.	CHECK THE APPROPRIATE BOX IF A MEMBER OF A GROUP (SEE INSTRUCTIONS)	()
		(a) (b)
2	CEC LICE ONLY	[X]
3.	SEC USE ONLY	
4	CUTIVENICIAID OD DI A CE OF OD CANICATION	
4.	CITIZENSHIP OR PLACE OF ORGANIZATION	
	Delaware	
N	UMBER OF SHARES BENEFICIALLY OWNED BY EACH REPORTING PERSON WITH	
5.	SOLE VOTING POWER	
	0	
6.	SHARED VOTING POWER	
	14,391,130	
7.	SOLE DISPOSITIVE POWER	
	0	
8.	SHARED DISPOSITIVE POWER	
	14,391,130	
9.	AGGREGATE AMOUNT BENEFICIALLY OWNED BY EACH REPORTING PERSON	
	14,391,130	
10	CHECK BOX IF THE AGGREGATE AMOUNT IN ROW (9) EXCLUDES CERTAIN SHARES (SEE 'INSTRUCTIONS)	
		[_]
11	.PERCENT OF CLASS REPRESENTED BY AMOUNT IN ROW (9)	

[_]

12. TYPE OF REPORTING PERSON (SEE INSTRUCTIONS)

IA, OO

CI	ISI	P	No	0	31	521	W1	10	Q

9.97%

	10.03132 1107	
1.	NAME OF REPORTING PERSONS I.R.S. IDENTIFICATION NOS. OF ABOVE PERSONS (ENTITIES ONLY)	
	Jeremy C. Green	
2.	CHECK THE APPROPRIATE BOX IF A MEMBER OF A GROUP (SEE INSTRUCTIONS)	
		(a) (b)
		[X
3.	SEC USE ONLY	
4.	CITIZENSHIP OR PLACE OF ORGANIZATION	
	United States	
NI	JMBER OF SHARES BENEFICIALLY OWNED BY EACH REPORTING PERSON WITH	
5.	SOLE VOTING POWER	
	0	
6.	SHARED VOTING POWER	
	14,391,130	
7.	SOLE DISPOSITIVE POWER	
	0	
8.	SHARED DISPOSITIVE POWER	
	14,391,130	
9.	AGGREGATE AMOUNT BENEFICIALLY OWNED BY EACH REPORTING PERSON	
	14,391,130	
10	CHECK BOX IF THE AGGREGATE AMOUNT IN ROW (9) EXCLUDES CERTAIN SHARES (SEE INSTRUCTIONS)	F 3
		[_]
11	PERCENT OF CLASS REPRESENTED BY AMOUNT IN ROW (9)	

[_]

12. TYPE OF REPORTING PERSON (SEE INSTRUCTIONS)

IN, HC

CUSIP No. 03152W109

Item 1. (a) Name of Issuer:

Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.

(b) Address of issuer's principal executive offices:

1 Cedar Brook Drive

Cranbury, New Jersey 08512

Item 2. (a) Name of person filing: Redmile Group, LLC Jeremy C. Green

(b) Address or principal business office or, if none, residence:

Redmile Group, LLC One Letterman Drive Building D, Suite D3-300 The Presidio of San Francisco San Francisco, California 94129

Jeremy C. Green c/o Redmile Group, LLC One Letterman Drive Building D, Suite D3-300 The Presidio of San Francisco San Francisco, California 94129

(c) Citizenship:

Redmile Group, LLC – Delaware Jeremy C. Green – United States of America

(d) Title of class of securities:

Common Stock, \$.01 par value per share

(e) CUSIP No.:

03152W109

Item 3. If This Statement is filed pursuant to §§.240.13d-1(b) or 240.13d-2(b), or (c), check whether the person filing is a

- (a) [_] Broker or dealer registered under section 15 of the Act (15 U.S.C. 78o).
- (b)[_]Bank as defined in section 3(a)(6) of the Act (15 U.S.C. 78c).

(c) [_] Insurance company as defined in section 3(a)(19) of the Act (15 U.S.C. 78c).

(d) [_] Investment company registered under section 8 of the Investment Company Act of 1940 (15 U.S.C. 80a-8).

(e) [X] An investment adviser in accordance with § 240.13d-1(b)(1)(ii)(E);

(f) [_] An employee benefit plan or endowment fund in accordance with § 240.13d-1(b)(1)(ii)(F);

(g) [X] A parent holding company or control person in accordance with §240.13d-1(b)(1)(ii)(G);

(h) [_] A savings association as defined in Section 3(b) of the Federal Deposit Insurance Act (12 U.S.C.1813);

(i) [_] A church plan that is excluded from the definition of an investment company under section 3(c)(14) of the Investment Company Act of 1940 (15 U.S.C. 80a-3);

(j) [_] A non-U.S. institution in accordance with §240.13d-1(b)(1)(ii)(J);

Group, in accordance with 240.13d-1(b)(1)(ii)(K). If filing as a non-U.S. institution in accordance with 4240.13d-1(b)(1)(ii)(J), please specify the type of institution:

Item 4. Ownership.¹

Provide the following information regarding the aggregate number and percentage of the class of securities of the issuer identified in Item 1.

(a) Amount beneficially owned:

Redmile Group, LLC	14,391,130 shares
Jeremy C. Green	14,391,130 shares

(b) Percent of class:

Redmile Group, LLC	9.97%
Jeremy C. Green	9.97%

- (c) Number of shares as to which such person has:
 - (i) Sole power to vote or to direct the vote

Redmile Group, LLC	0 shares
Jeremy C. Green	0 shares

(ii) Shared power to vote or to direct the vote

Redmile Group, LLC	14,391,130 shares
Jeremy C. Green	14,391,130 shares

(iii) Sole power to dispose or to direct the disposition of

Redmile Group, LLC	0 shares
Jeremy C. Green	0 shares

(iv) Shared power to dispose or to direct the disposition of

Redmile Group, LLC	14,391,130 shares
Jeremy C. Green	14,391,130 shares

¹ Represented in part by 2,060,000 Warrants to purchase common stock, which may be exchanged for ordinary shares, par value \$0.01 per share, at a 1:1 ratio.

Item 5. Ownership of Five Percent or Less of a Class.

If this statement is being filed to report the fact that as of the date hereof the reporting person has ceased to be the beneficial owner of more than five percent of the class of securities, check the following [_].

Instruction: Dissolution of a group requires a response to this item.

N/A

Ownership of More Than Five Percent on Behalf of Another Person.

Item 6.

N/A

Item Identification and Classification of the Subsidiary Which Acquired the Security Being Reported on by the 7. Parent Holding Company or Control Person.

If a parent holding company or control person has filed this schedule, pursuant to Rule 13d-1(b)(1)(ii)(G), so indicate under Item 3(g) and attach an exhibit stating the identity and the Item 3 classification of the relevant subsidiary. If a parent holding company or control person has filed this schedule pursuant to Rule 13d-1(c) or Rule 13d-1(d), attach an exhibit stating the identification of the relevant subsidiary.

See Exhibit B attached hereto.

Item 8. Identification and Classification of Members of the Group.

N/A

Item 9. Notice of Dissolution of Group.

N/A

Item 10. Certification.

By signing below I certify that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, the securities referred to above were acquired and are held in the ordinary course of business and were not acquired and are not held for the purpose of or with the effect of changing or influencing the control of the issuer of the securities and were not acquired and are not held in connection with or as a participant in any transaction having that purpose or effect.

SIGNATURE

After reasonable inquiry and to the best of my knowledge and belief, I certify that the information set forth in this statement is true, complete and correct.

February 14, 2017 (Date)

REDMILE GROUP, LLC

/s/ Jeremy C. Green Jeremy C. Green, Managing Member

JEREMY C. GREEN

/s/ Jeremy C. Green

The original statement shall be signed by each person on whose behalf the statement is filed or his authorized representative. If the statement is signed on behalf of a person by his authorized representative other than an executive officer or general partner of the filing person, evidence of the representative's authority to sign on behalf of such person shall be filed with the statement, provided, however, that a power of attorney for this purpose which is already on file with the Commission may be incorporated by reference. The name and any title of each person who signs the statement shall be typed or printed beneath his signature.

Note. Schedules filed in paper format shall include a signed original and five copies of the schedule, including all exhibits. See s.240.13d-7 for other parties for whom copies are to be sent.

Attention. Intentional misstatements or omissions of fact constitute Federal criminal violations (see 18 U.S.C. 1001).

Exhibit A

AGREEMENT

The undersigned agree that this Schedule 13G, Amendment 4, dated February 14, 2017, relating to the common stock, par value \$0.01, of Amicus Therapeutics, Inc. shall be filed on behalf of the undersigned.

February 14, 2017 (Date)

REDMILE GROUP, LLC

/s/ Jeremy C. Green Jeremy C. Green, Managing Member

JEREMY C. GREEN

/s/ Jeremy C. Green

Exhibit B

Redmile Group, LLC is the relevant entity for which Jeremy C. Green may be considered a control person.

SK 25839 0001 7412614

Total assets \$635,902 \$1,002,975 Liabilities and stockholders' equity

Current liabilities:

Trade accounts payable \$54,816 \$82,974
Accrued expenses 159,824 202,534
Deferred revenue 69,305 88,618
Income taxes payable 33,599 123,000
Capital lease obligations—current portion 7,682 9,316
Notes payable—current portion 2,185 2,115
Other current liabilities 14,534 15,021

Liabilities of discontinued operations

1,732 1,472

Total current liabilities

343,677 525,050

Capital lease obligations—long-term portion

6,831 11,148

Notes payable—long-term portion

98,494 100,150

Other liabilities

17,474 18,441

Total liabilities

466,476 654,789

Minority interests

3,353 5,849

Commitments and contingencies

Stockholders' equity:

Preferred stock, \$.01 par value; authorized shares—10,000; no shares issued

Common stock, \$.01 par value; authorized shares—100,000; 9,242 and 8,358 shares issued and 4,295 and 4,847 shares outstanding at April 30, 2009 and July 31, 2008, respectively

92. 84

Class A common stock, \$.01 par value; authorized shares—35,000; 3,272 shares issued and outstanding at April 30, 2009 and July 31, 2008

33 33

Class B common stock, \$.01 par value; authorized shares—200,000; 22,913 and 21,301 shares issued and 16,309 and 17,083 shares outstanding at April 30, 2009 and July 31, 2008, respectively

229 213

Additional paid-in capital

720,188 717,256

Treasury stock, at cost, consisting of 4,947 and 3,511 shares of common stock and 6,604 and 4,218 shares of Class B common stock at April 30, 2009 and July 31, 2008, respectively

(292,104) (285,536)

Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income

(3,218) 6,754

Accumulated deficit

(259,147) (96,467)

Total stockholders' equity

166,073 342,337

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity

\$635,902 \$1,002,975

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.

Table of Contents

IDT CORPORATION

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS (Unaudited)

	,	Three Months Ended April 30,				Nine Mon),		
		2009 2008 (In thousands, exce			ant	2009	ata`	2008	
Revenues	\$	388,989	1110t		_	1,258,781		1,363,497	
Costs and expenses:	Ψ	300,707	Ψ	770,733	Ψ	1,230,701	Ψ	1,505,777	
Direct cost of revenues (exclusive of depreciation and									
amortization)		295,706		350,550		963,865		1,077,620	
Selling, general and administrative (i)		74,169		116,768		239,732		346,065	
Depreciation and amortization		11,894		17,345		38,869		51,717	
Bad debt		2,820		3,078		7,623		8,321	
Research and development		1,548		8,885		7,932		9,808	
Impairments		62,120		54		72,761		262	
Restructuring charges		609		16,453		8,438		20,427	
Total costs and expenses		448,866		513,133		1,339,220		1,514,220	
Gain on sale of interest in AMSO, LLC		2,606		_	_	2,606		_	
Arbitration award income		_	_	_	-	_	_	40,000	
Loss from operations		(57,271)		(72,398)		(77,833)		(110,723)	
Interest (expense) income, net		(2,092)		(299)		(4,796)		5,308	
Other income (expense), net		1,141		(8,348)		(30,637)		(9,633)	
Loss from continuing operations before minority									
interests and income taxes		(58,222)		(81,045)		(113,266)		(115,048)	
Minority interests		(822)		(317)		(36)		(976)	
Provision for income taxes		(1,353)		(2,208)		(10,511)		(8,707)	
Loss from continuing operations		(60,397)		(83,570)		(123,813)		(124,731)	
Discontinued operations, net of tax:									
(Loss) income from discontinued operations		(3,039)		1,844		(38,867)		(8,640)	
Loss on sale of discontinued operations		_	_	(485)		_	_	(4,529)	
Total discontinued operations		(3,039)		1,359		(38,867)		(13,169)	
Net loss	\$	(63,436)	\$	(82,211)	\$	(162,680)	\$	(137,900)	
Earnings per share:									
Basic and diluted:	ф	(0.74)	ф	(2.24)	φ	(5.20)	Φ	(4.00)	
Loss from continuing operations	\$	(2.74)	\$	(3.34)	\$	(5.36)	\$	(4.89)	
Total discontinued operations		(0.14)		0.05		(1.69)		(0.51)	
N. d. L	ф	(0.00)	¢.	(2.20)	φ	(7.05)	Φ	(F 40)	
Net loss	\$	(2.88)	\$	(3.29)	\$	(7.05)	\$	(5.40)	

Weighted-average number of shares used in calculation of				
basic and diluted earnings per share	22,052	25,005	23,081	25,518
(i) Stock-based compensation included in selling, general				
and				
administrative expenses	\$ 760	\$ —\$	2,720	\$ 3,169

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.

Table of Contents

IDT CORPORATION

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (Unaudited)

	Nine Month April 3	
	2009	2008
	(in thous	ands)
Net cash used in operating activities	\$ (96,729) \$	(115,303)
Investing activities		
Capital expenditures	(10,703)	(13,937)
Purchase of building		(24,778)
Repayment of notes receivable, net	168	14,789
Investments and acquisitions	(2,504)	(21,749)
Proceeds from sale and redemption of investments	26,351	10,945
Restricted cash and cash equivalents	(54,538)	791
Proceeds from sale of interest in AMSO, LLC	3,198	_
Proceeds from sale of building	_	4,872
Proceeds from sales and maturities of marketable securities	145,316	633,242
Purchases of marketable securities	(56,035)	(402,058)
Net cash provided by investing activities	51,253	202,117
Financing activities		
Distributions to minority shareholders of subsidiaries	(2,285)	(3,897)
Proceeds from sales of stock of subsidiaries	1,187	_
Proceeds from exercise of stock options	_	94
Proceeds from employee stock purchase plan	36	808
Repayments of capital lease obligations	(5,984)	(22,722)
Repayments of borrowings	(1,585)	(3,032)
Repurchases of common stock and Class B common stock	(6,568)	(45,279)
Net cash used in financing activities	(15,199)	(74,028)
Discontinued operations		
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities	(2,808)	6,966
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities	29,687	(48,224)
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities	(43)	382
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
Net cash provided by (used in) discontinued operations	26,836	(40,876)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents	(4,728)	3,913
,		
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents	(38,567)	(24,177)
Cash and cash equivalents (including discontinued operations) at beginning of period	164,886	151,404
	,	
Cash and cash equivalents (including discontinued operations) at end of period	126,319	127,227
Less cash and cash equivalents of discontinued operations at end of period	(224)	(2,379)
		(,)
Cash and cash equivalents (excluding discontinued operations) at end of period	\$ 126,095 \$	124,848

Supplemental schedule of non-cash investing activities		
Purchases of property, plant and equipment through capital lease obligations	\$ 95 \$	234
Assumption of mortgage payable in connection with the purchase of building	\$ — \$	26,851

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.

Table of Contents

IDT CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

Note 1—Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements of IDT Corporation and its subsidiaries (the "Company" or "IDT") have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("US GAAP") for interim financial information and with the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and footnotes required by US GAAP for complete financial statements. In the opinion of management, all adjustments (consisting of normal recurring accruals) considered necessary for a fair presentation have been included. Operating results for the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the fiscal year ending July 31, 2009. The balance sheet at July 31, 2008 has been derived from the Company's audited financial statements at that date but does not include all of the information and footnotes required by US GAAP for complete financial statements. For further information, please refer to the consolidated financial statements and footnotes thereto included in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended July 31, 2008, as filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC").

The Company's fiscal year ends on July 31 of each calendar year. Each reference below to a fiscal year refers to the fiscal year ending in the calendar year indicated (e.g., fiscal 2009 refers to the fiscal year ending July 31, 2009).

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year's presentation. As described in Note 4, IDT Carmel has been reclassified to discontinued operations for all periods presented. At July 31, 2008, restricted cash and cash equivalents of \$4.1 million previously included in cash and cash equivalents has been stated separately in the condensed consolidated balance sheet. Restricted cash and cash equivalents of \$4.1 million, \$2.4 million and \$1.6 million at July 31, 2008, July 31, 2007 and April 30, 2008, respectively, previously included in cash and cash equivalents have been excluded from cash and cash equivalents in the condensed consolidated statements of cash flows. For the three and nine months ended April 30, 2008, impairments of \$0.1 million and \$0.3 million, respectively, and restructuring charges of \$16.5 million and \$20.4 million, respectively, previously combined in restructuring and severance charges have been stated separately in the condensed consolidated statement of operations. As described in Note 11, business segment results for the three and nine months ended April 30, 2008 have been reclassified and restated to conform to the current year's presentation.

The Company records Universal Service Fund ("USF") charges that are billed to customers on a gross basis in its results of operations, and records other taxes and surcharges on a net basis. USF charges in the amount of \$0.6 million and \$2.1 million in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009, respectively, and \$0.9 million and \$2.9 million in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2008, respectively, were recorded on a gross basis.

On September 30, 2008 and October 8, 2008, the Company received notices from the New York Stock Exchange ("NYSE") that it was no longer in compliance with the NYSE's \$100 million market capitalization threshold and the \$1.00 average closing price over a consecutive 30-day trading period requirement, respectively, required for continued listing. The Company submitted a plan to the NYSE to regain compliance, and that plan was accepted. The NYSE monitors compliance with the plan and may commence delisting procedures prior to either deadline if the Company fails to meet the milestones set forth in its plan. The Company has until March 2010 to regain compliance with the \$100 million market capitalization standard. In addition, according to the rules of the NYSE, the NYSE will promptly initiate suspension and delisting procedures with respect to a listed company that is determined to have average global market capitalization over a consecutive 30 trading-day period of less than \$25 million. The NYSE has reduced this \$25 million threshold to \$15 million until June 30, 2009. The Company is currently in compliance with this reduced

threshold. On April 8, 2009, the NYSE notified the Company that the stock price for each of the Company's listed equity securities was above the NYSE's minimum requirement of a \$1.00 average share price over the preceding 30 trading days and a \$1.00 share price on the close of the last trading day of the six-month cure period (April 8, 2009), thus restoring the Company's compliance with the minimum share price requirement for continued listing on the NYSE.

A one-for-three reverse stock split of all of our outstanding common stock, Class A common stock and Class B common stock was effective on February 24, 2009 (see Note 6). All share, weighted average share and per share amounts in the accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements and notes thereto have been retroactively adjusted for all periods presented to reflect the one-for-three reverse stock split. The one-for-three reverse stock split did not affect the number of authorized shares or the par value per share.

Table of Contents

The Company incurred a loss from continuing operations in each of the five years in the period ended July 31, 2008 and in the nine months ended April 30, 2009. The Company incurred a net loss in the nine months ended April 30, 2009, and in fiscal 2008, fiscal 2006, fiscal 2005 and fiscal 2004, and would have incurred a net loss in fiscal 2007 except for a gain on the sale IDT Entertainment. The Company also had negative cash flow from operating activities in each of the three years in the period ended July 31, 2008 and in the nine months ended April 30, 2009. The Company had an accumulated deficit at April 30, 2009 of \$259.1 million. Historically, the Company satisfied its cash requirements primarily through a combination of its existing cash and cash equivalents, proceeds from the sale of businesses, proceeds from the sales and maturities of marketable securities and investments, arbitration awards and litigation settlements, and borrowings from third parties. The Company currently expects its operations in the next twelve months and the balance of cash, cash equivalents, marketable securities and pooled investment vehicles including hedge funds that it held as of April 30, 2009 will be sufficient to meet its currently anticipated working capital and capital expenditure requirements, and to fund any potential operating cash flow deficits within any of its segments for at least the next twelve months. The foregoing is based on a number of assumptions, including that the Company will collect on its receivables, effectively manage its working capital requirements, prevail in legal actions and other claims initiated against it, and maintain its revenue levels and liquidity. Predicting these matters is particularly difficult in the current worldwide economic situation and overall decline in consumer demand. Failure to generate sufficient revenue and operating income could have a material adverse effect on the Company's results of operations, financial condition and cash flows. The recoverability of assets is highly dependent on the ability of management to execute its business plan.

Note 2—Fair Value Measurements

In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Statement on Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 157, Fair Value Measurements, which is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007 and for interim periods within those years. SFAS 157 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in US GAAP, establishes a hierarchy that categorizes and prioritizes the sources to be used to estimate fair value, and expands the related disclosure requirements. SFAS 157 applies under other accounting pronouncements that require or permit fair value measurements. SFAS 157 indicates, among other things, that a fair value measurement assumes that the transaction to sell an asset or transfer a liability occurs in the principal market for the asset or liability or, in the absence of a principal market, the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. SFAS 157 defines fair value based upon an exit price model.

In February 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position ("FSP") 157-2, Effective Date of FASB Statement No. 157, which delays the effective date of the application of SFAS 157 for all nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on a nonrecurring basis to fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2008. Nonrecurring nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities include those measured at fair value in goodwill impairment testing, indefinite lived intangible assets measured at fair value for impairment testing, those initially measured at fair value in a business combination, and nonfinancial liabilities initially measured at fair value for exit or disposal activities. The Company is required to adopt SFAS 157 for nonrecurring nonfinancial liabilities on August 1, 2009. The Company does not expect the adoption of SFAS 157 for nonrecurring nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities to have a material impact on its financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

The Company adopted SFAS 157 except as permitted under FSP 157-2 as of August 1, 2008, which did not have a material impact on its financial statements. On October 10, 2008, the FASB issued FSP 157-3, Determining the Fair Value of a Financial Asset When the Market for That Asset Is Not Active, which clarifies application of SFAS 157 in a market that is not active. FSP 157-3 was effective upon issuance, including prior periods for which financial statements have not been issued. The Company adopted FSP 157-3 in October 2008. On April 9, 2009, the FASB issued FSP 157-4, Determining Fair Value When the Volume and Level of Activity for the Asset or Liability Have

Significantly Decreased and Identifying Transactions That Are Not Orderly, which superseded FSP 157-3. FSP 157-4 provides additional guidance on (a) how to determine when markets become inactive and thus potentially require significant adjustment to transactions or quoted prices and (b) how to determine if a transaction or group of transactions is forced or distressed (that is, not orderly), and amends the disclosure provisions of SFAS 157. The Company was required to apply FSP 157-4 beginning on May 1, 2009. The Company does not expect FSP 157-4 to have a material impact on its financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

SFAS 157 establishes a valuation hierarchy for disclosure of the inputs to valuation used to measure fair value. This hierarchy prioritizes the inputs into three broad levels as follows. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. Level 2 inputs are quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets or inputs that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly through market corroboration, for substantially the full term of the financial instrument. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs based on the Company's assumptions used to measure assets and liabilities at fair value. A financial asset or liability's classification within the hierarchy is determined based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement requires judgment, and may affect the valuation of the assets and liabilities being measured and their placement within the fair value hierarchy.

Table of Contents

The following table presents the balances of assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of April 30, 2009:

Acceta	Lev	/el 1 (1)	Level 2 (2) (in tho		el 3 (3)\ s)		Total
Assets:	Φ	11.011	Φ	ф	£ 102	φ	16 204
Marketable securities	\$	11,011	5 -	— \$	5,193	\$	16,204
Auction rate securities included in marketable securities		_			349		349
Total marketable securities	\$	11,011	\$ -	 \$	5,542	\$	16,553
Liabilities:							
Derivative contracts	\$	610	\$ -	_ \$	2,472	\$	3,082
			•		,		

^{(1) –} quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

The Company's investments in marketable securities are considered "available for sale." The Company's marketable securities at April 30, 2009 included auction rate securities with a par value of \$14.3 million. The underlying asset for these securities is preferred stock of the Federal National Mortgage Association ("Fannie Mae") or the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation ("Freddie Mac"). The fair values of the auction rate securities, which cannot be corroborated by the market, were estimated based on the value of the underlying assets and the Company's assumptions, and are therefore classified as Level 3. The Company's investments in pooled investment vehicles including hedge funds, which are included in "Investments—short-term" and "Investments—long-term" in the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets, are accounted for using the equity method unless the Company's interest is so minor that it has virtually no influence over operating and financial policies pursuant to the guidance in Emerging Issues Task Force ("EITF") Topic D-46, Accounting for Limited Partnership Investments and EITF 03-16, Accounting for Investments in Limited Liability Companies. The Company's investments in pooled investment vehicles including hedge funds are therefore excluded from the fair value measurements table above.

The Company's derivative contracts are valued using quoted market prices or significant unobservable inputs. These contracts consist of (1) natural gas and electricity forward contracts to fix the price that IDT Energy will pay for specified amounts of natural gas and electricity on specified dates, which are classified as Level 1, (2) an interest rate swap to achieve fixed rate debt, which is classified as Level 3, and (3) an embedded derivative in a structured note that must be bifurcated, which is classified as Level 3.

The following table summarizes the change in the balance of the Company's assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) at April 30, 2009:

	Three Months Ended			Nine Mon	Ended		
	April 30, 2009			April 3	0, 20	009	
	Assets Liabil		abilities	Assets		abilities	
				(in thous	ands)		
Balance, beginning of period	\$	5,619	\$	(2,843) \$	53,265	\$	(155)
Total gains (losses) (realized or unrealized):							
Included in earnings in "Other expense, net"		(100)		371	(8,671)		(2,317)
Included in other comprehensive loss		23		_	3,028		

^{(2) –} observable inputs other than quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities

^{(3) –} no observable pricing inputs in the market

Purchases, sales, issuances and settlements	_	-	_	(42,080)		_
Transfers in (out) of Level 3		-	_	_	-	_
Balance, end of period	\$ 5,542	\$	(2,472) \$	5,542	\$	(2,472)
The amount of total gains or losses for the period included						
in earnings in "Other expense, net" attributable to the change						
in unrealized gains or losses relating to assets or liabilities						
still held at the end of the period	\$ (100)	\$	371 \$	(6,750)	\$	(2,317)

Effective August 1, 2008, the Company adopted SFAS No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities—Including an Amendment of SFAS 115. SFAS 159 permits companies to choose to measure selected financial assets and liabilities at fair value. SFAS 159 also establishes presentation and disclosure requirements designed to facilitate comparisons between companies that choose different measurement attributes for similar types of assets and liabilities. SFAS 159 does not eliminate disclosure requirements included in other accounting standards, including requirements for disclosures about fair value measurements included in SFAS 157 and SFAS 107, Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments. The Company chose not to elect the fair value option for the valuation of any of its eligible assets or liabilities, therefore the adoption of SFAS 159 had no impact on the Company's financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

Table of Contents

Note 3—Arbitration Award Income

In November 2007, the Company's Net2Phone Cable Telephony subsidiary, which is included in its IDT Telecom Platform Services segment, was awarded approximately €23 million, plus interest from November 2005, in an arbitration proceeding against Altice One S.A. and certain of its affiliates. The arbitration proceeding related to Altice's termination of cable telephony license agreements Net2Phone Cable Telephony had entered into in November 2004. The Company recorded a gain of \$40.0 million for this arbitration award, including accrued interest, in the first quarter of fiscal 2008. The Company received €29.3 million in March 2008, which includes interest from November 2005.

Note 4—Discontinued Operations

IDT Carmel

On January 30, 2009, IDT Carmel, Inc., IDT Carmel Portfolio Management LLC, and FFPM Carmel Holdings I LLC (all of which are subsidiaries of the Company) (collectively "IDT Carmel") and Sherman Originator III LLC consummated the sale, pursuant to a Purchase and Sale Contract, of substantially all of IDT Carmel Portfolio Management LLC's debt portfolios with an aggregate face value of \$951.6 million for cash of \$18.0 million. The purchase price was received on February 2, 2009. The Company exited the debt collection business in April 2009. IDT Carmel met the criteria to be reported as a discontinued operation and accordingly, IDT Carmel's assets, liabilities, results of operations and cash flows are classified as discontinued operations for all periods presented. IDT Carmel recognized a loss of \$34.3 million in the second quarter of fiscal 2009 in connection with the sale of its debt portfolios.

Revenues, loss before income taxes and net loss of IDT Carmel, which is included in discontinued operations, are as follows:

	Three Months Ended April 30,				Nine Mon Apri			
		2009		2008		2009		2008
				(in tho	usan	nds)		
Revenues	\$	932	\$	12,513	\$	16,534	\$	34,542
(Loss) income before income taxes	\$	(3,039)	\$	1,830	\$	(38,867)	\$	(8,335)
Net (loss) income	\$	(3,039)	\$	1,844	\$	(38,867)	\$	(8,640)

The assets and liabilities of IDT Carmel included in discontinued operations consist of the following:

Assets	•	April 30, 2009 (in thou		uly 31, 2008 ds)
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	224	\$	1,734
Purchased debt portfolios		24		63,059
Equipment, net		_	_	1,987
Other		106		1,422

Assets of discontinued operations	\$ 354	\$ 68,202
Liabilities		
Trade accounts payable	\$ 2	\$ 2
Accrued expenses	1,730	954
Other liabilities	_	516
Liabilities of discontinued operations	\$ 1,732	\$ 1,472

IDT Entertainment

In the first quarter of fiscal 2007, the Company completed the sale of IDT Entertainment to Liberty Media Corporation. The Company is eligible to receive additional consideration from Liberty Media based upon any appreciation in the value of IDT Entertainment over the five-year period following the closing of the transaction or a shorter period under specified circumstances ("Contingent Value"), equal to 25% of the excess, if any, of the net equity value of IDT Entertainment over \$453 million. However, the Company would have to pay Liberty Media up to \$3.5 million if the Contingent Value does not exceed \$439 million, which is included in "Other long-term liabilities" in the condensed consolidated balance sheet. Loss on sale of discontinued operations in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2008 of \$0.5 million and \$4.5 million, respectively, included compensation, taxes and the costs of a lawsuit, all of which arose from and were directly related to the operations of IDT Entertainment prior to its disposal.

Table of Contents

Note 5—Investment in American Shale Oil, LLC

American Shale Oil Corporation ("AMSO") was formed as a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company in February 2008. In April 2008, AMSO acquired a 75% equity interest in American Shale Oil, L.L.C. ("AMSO, LLC"), in exchange for cash of \$2.5 million and certain commitments for future funding of AMSO, LLC's operations. In a separate transaction in April 2008, the Company acquired an additional 14.9437% equity interest in AMSO, LLC in exchange for cash of \$3.0 million, bringing the total interest then held by the Company to approximately 90%.

AMSO, LLC is one of only three holders of leases granted by the U.S. Bureau of Land Management ("BLM") to research, develop and demonstrate in-situ technologies for potential commercial shale oil production ("RD&D Leases") in western Colorado. The other holders consist of Shell Frontier Oil and Gas, Inc. (three leases) and Chevron U.S.A., Inc. The RD&D Lease awarded to AMSO, LLC by the BLM covers an area of 160 acres. The lease runs for a ten year period beginning on January 1, 2007, and is subject to an extension of up to five years if AMSO, LLC can demonstrate that a process leading to the production of commercial quantities of shale oil is diligently being pursued. Once AMSO, LLC demonstrates the economic and environmental viability of its technology, it will have the opportunity to submit a one time payment pursuant to the Oil Shale Management Regulations and convert its RD&D Lease to a commercial lease on 5,120 acres which overlap and are contiguous with the 160 acres in its RD&D Lease.

In March 2009, pursuant to a Member Interest Purchase Agreement entered into on December 19, 2008, TOTAL E&P Research & Technology USA, ("Total"), a subsidiary of TOTAL E&P SCR/Recherche & Development, acquired a 50% interest in AMSO, LLC in exchange for cash paid to the Company of \$3.2 million and Total's commitment to fund the majority of AMSO, LLC's capital requirements going forward. The Company recognized a gain of \$2.6 million in the third quarter of fiscal 2009 in connection with the sale. While AMSO will operate the project during the RD&D phase, Total will provide a majority of the funding during this phase of the project, and technical assistance throughout the life of the project. Total will lead the planning of the commercial development and will assume management responsibilities during the subsequent commercial phase. Total's indirect corporate parent, Total S.A., is the world's fifth largest integrated oil and gas company.

The Company consolidated AMSO, LLC prior to the closing of the transaction with Total. Beginning with the closing, the Company accounts for its 50% ownership interest in AMSO, LLC using the equity method since the Company has the ability to exercise significant influence over its operating and financial matters, although it no longer controls AMSO, LLC. Pursuant to FASB Interpretation 46(R), Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, AMSO, LLC is a variable interest entity, however, the Company is not the primary beneficiary because it will not absorb a majority of the expected losses or receive a majority of the expected residual returns.

The following table summarizes the change in the balance of the Company's Investment in AMSO, LLC beginning with Total's acquisition of a 50% interest in AMSO, LLC. The investment in AMSO, LLC is included in "Investments-long-term" in the consolidated balance sheet and equity in net loss of AMSO, LLC is included in "Other expense, net" in the consolidated statement of operations.

\$ (65)
904
(192)
\$ 647
\$

AMSO has committed to a total investment of \$10.0 million in AMSO, LLC, subject to certain exceptions where the amount could be greater. At April 30, 2009, subject to certain exceptions, the Company's minimum funding commitment as a result of its investment in AMSO, LLC is \$8.3 million.

Table of Contents

Summarized unaudited balance sheet data of AMSO, LLC is as follows:

Assets	April 30, 2009 (in thou		uly 31, 2008 ds)
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 3,777	\$	679
Other current assets	441		
Equipment, net	8		_
•			
Total assets	\$ 4,226	\$	679
Liabilities and members' interests			
Current liabilities	\$ 794	\$	105
Other liabilities	_	_	1,586
Members' interests	3,432		(1,012)
Total liabilities and members' interests	\$ 4,226	\$	679

Summarized unaudited statement of operations data of AMSO, LLC is as follows:

	-	Three Months April 30		Nine Months April 30	
		2009	2008	2009	2008
			(In thousa	nds)	
Revenues	\$	— \$	— \$	— \$	_
Costs and expenses:					
Research and development		1,086	548	4,113	548
-					
Total costs and expenses		1,086	548	4,113	548
Loss from operations		(1,086)	(548)	(4,113)	(548)
Other income		2		2	_
Net loss	\$	(1,084) \$	(548) \$	(4,111) \$	(548)

Note 6—Stockholders' Equity

On December 17, 2008, the Company's Board of Directors approved, authorized and recommended to the Company's stockholders to amend and restate the Company's Restated Certificate of Incorporation to affect a one-for-three reverse split of each of the outstanding shares of the Company's common stock, Class A common stock and Class B common stock. On January 20, 2009, Mr. Howard S. Jonas, the Company's Chairman of the Board, and his affiliates, the record holders of shares representing a majority of the aggregate voting power of the Company's outstanding capital stock, delivered to the Company a written consent in lieu of a special meeting of stockholders representing approximately 71% of the voting power of the Company's stock, approving the amended Restated Certificate of Incorporation thereby approving the one-for-three reverse stock split. The one-for-three reverse stock split was effective on February 24, 2009. The one-for-three reverse stock split was intended to satisfy compliance with the NYSE's price criteria for

continued listing. All share, weighted average share and per share amounts, as well as stock option, non-vested restricted stock and contingently issuable share amounts, in the accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements and notes thereto have been retroactively adjusted for all periods presented to reflect the one-for-three reverse stock split. The one-for-three reverse stock split did not affect the number of authorized shares or the par value per share.

On October 31, 2008, the Company entered into an Amended and Restated Employment Agreement with Mr. Jonas. Pursuant to this Agreement (i) the term of Mr. Jonas' employment with the Company runs until December 31, 2013 and (ii) Mr. Jonas was granted 1.2 million restricted shares of the Company's Class B common stock and 0.9 million restricted shares of the Company's common stock in lieu of a cash base salary beginning January 1, 2009 through December 31, 2013. The restricted shares vest in different installments throughout the term of Mr. Jonas' employment as delineated in the agreement, and all of the restricted shares paid to Mr. Jonas under the agreement automatically vest in the event of (i) a change in control of the Company; (ii) Mr. Jonas' death; or (iii) if Mr. Jonas is terminated without cause or if he terminates his employment for good reason as defined in the agreement. A pro rata portion of the restricted shares will vest in the event of termination for cause. The restricted shares were granted on October 31, 2008 pursuant to the Company's 2005 Stock Option and Incentive Plan. The 1.2 million restricted shares of the Company's Class B common stock and 0.9 million restricted shares of the Company's common stock granted on October 31, 2008 were included in the shares issued and outstanding at April 30, 2009. Total unrecognized compensation cost on the grant date was \$5.5 million. The unrecognized compensation cost is expected to be recognized over the vesting period from January 1, 2009 through December 31, 2013. The Company recognized \$0.2 million and \$0.3 million of the compensation cost related to this agreement in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009, respectively.

Table of Contents

On November 5, 2008, the Company and Mr. James A. Courter, the Company's Vice Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, entered into an amendment to Mr. Courter's employment agreement. Pursuant to the amendment, Mr. Courter was granted 0.4 million restricted shares of Class B common stock in lieu of a cash base salary from January 1, 2009 until October 21, 2009. The restricted shares are scheduled to vest on October 21, 2009, the last day of the term under the amended employment agreement. Pursuant to the amendment, all of the restricted shares paid to Mr. Courter under the amendment automatically vest in the event of (i) a change in control of the Company; (ii) Mr. Courter's death; or (iii) if Mr. Courter is terminated without cause or if he terminates his employment for good reason as defined by the amendment. A pro rata portion of the restricted shares will vest in the event of termination for cause. The restricted shares were granted on November 5, 2008 pursuant to the Company's 2005 Stock Option and Incentive Plan. The 0.4 million restricted shares of the Company's Class B common stock granted on November 5, 2008 were included in the shares issued and outstanding at April 30, 2009. Total unrecognized compensation cost on the grant date was \$0.8 million. The unrecognized compensation cost is expected to be recognized from January 1, 2009 through October 21, 2009. The Company recognized \$0.2 million and \$0.3 million of the compensation cost related to this agreement in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009, respectively.

In June 2006, the Company's Board of Directors authorized a stock repurchase program for the repurchase of up to an aggregate of 8.3 million shares of the Company's Class B common stock and common stock, without regard to class. On December 17, 2008, the Company's Board of Directors increased the aggregate number of shares of the Company's Class B common stock and common stock, without regard to class, that the Company is authorized to repurchase under the stock repurchase program from the 3.3 million shares that remained available for repurchase to 8.3 million shares. In the nine months ended April 30, 2009, the Company repurchased an aggregate of 2.4 million shares of Class B common stock and 1.4 million shares of common stock for an aggregate purchase price of \$6.5 million. In the nine months ended April 30, 2008, the Company repurchased an aggregate of 1.8 million shares of Class B common stock and 0.2 million shares of common stock for an aggregate purchase price of \$44.5 million. As of April 30, 2009, 7.0 million shares remained available for repurchase under the stock repurchase program.

Note 7—Earnings Per Share

The Company computes earnings per share under the provisions of SFAS No. 128, Earnings per Share, whereby basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income (loss) attributable to all classes of common shareholders by the weighted average number of shares of all classes of common stock outstanding during the applicable period. Diluted earnings per share is determined in the same manner as basic earnings per share, except that the number of shares is increased to include non-vested restricted stock and to assume exercise of potentially dilutive stock options and contingently issuable shares using the treasury stock method, unless the effect of such increase is anti-dilutive. For the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009 and 2008, the diluted earnings per share equals basic earnings per share because the Company had losses from continuing operations and the impact of the assumed exercise of stock options and non-vested restricted stock would have been anti-dilutive. The following securities have been excluded from the dilutive earnings per share computations because their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive:

	At April :	At April 30,				
	2009	2008				
	(in thousan	nds)				
Stock options	2,029	2,502				
Non-vested restricted stock	2,513	152				
Contingently issuable shares	<u> </u>	56				
Total	4,542	2,710				

Note 8—Comprehensive Loss

The Company's comprehensive loss consists of the following:

		Three Months April 30		Nine Mon Apri		
	2009		2008	2009	2008	
			(in thou	sands)		
Net loss	\$	(63,436) \$	(82,211)	\$ (162,680)	\$ (137,90	0)
Foreign currency translation adjustments		1,060	5,154	(13,005)	(2,81	1)
Unrealized gains (loss) on available-for-sale securities		35	4,541	3,033	1,60	5
Comprehensive loss	\$	(62,341) \$	(72,516)	\$ (172,652)	\$ (139,10	6)

Table of Contents

Note 9—Impairments

The Company's impairments by business segment consist of the following:

	Three Months Ended April 30,				Nine Mon Apri			
	2009		2008 (in thousan		2009		2008	
		(1)	n thoi	usan	ds)			
Telecom Platform Services	\$ 29,039	\$	54	\$	29,052	\$	242	
Consumer Phone Services	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	
IDT Energy	_	_	_	_	_	_		
IDT Capital	33,081		_	_	43,709		20	
Corporate	_	_	_	_	_	_		
-								
Total	\$ 62,120	\$	54	\$	72,761	\$	262	

The Company recorded aggregate impairment charges of \$72.8 million in the nine months ended April 30, 2009 of which \$61.7 million related to goodwill, \$5.3 million related to FCC licenses and \$5.8 million related to other assets. In the second quarter of fiscal 2009, the following events and circumstances indicated that the fair value of certain of the Company's reporting units may be below their carrying value: (1) a significant adverse change in the business climate, (2) operating losses of reporting units, (3) significant revisions to internal forecasts, and (4) plans to restructure operations including reductions in workforce. The Company measured the fair value of its reporting units by discounting their estimated future cash flows using an appropriate discount rate. The carrying value including goodwill exceeded the estimated fair value of the following reporting units: IDW Publishing, CTM Media Group, and WMET radio, all of which are units of IDT Capital, and Rechargeable, which is a unit of Telecom Platform Services. The Company therefore performed additional steps for these reporting units to determine whether an impairment of goodwill was required. As a result of this analysis, in the nine months ended April 30, 2009, the Company recorded preliminary goodwill impairment, which is subject to adjustment, of \$1.8 million in IDW Publishing, \$29.7 million in CTM Media Group, \$1.2 million in WMET and \$29.0 million in Rechargeable, which reduced the carrying amount of the goodwill in each of these reporting units to zero. The Company recorded the preliminary amounts because it was probable that goodwill was impaired, and the amount of impairment could be reasonably estimated. On April 30, 2009, the Company's remaining goodwill was \$12.4 million. Calculating the fair value of the reporting units, and allocating the estimated fair value to all of the tangible assets, intangible assets and liabilities, requires significant estimates and assumptions. Should these estimates or assumptions prove to be incorrect, the Company may record additional goodwill impairment or adjust its preliminary impairment in future periods.

IDT Spectrum, which is a unit of IDT Capital, recorded impairment in the nine months ended April 30, 2009 of \$5.3 million, which reduced the carrying value of its FCC licenses to zero. The events and circumstances in the second quarter of fiscal 2009 described above indicated that the FCC licenses may be impaired. The Company estimated that these FCC licenses had nominal value based on continuing operating losses and projected losses for the foreseeable future.

The Company recorded an impairment of \$3.5 million in the nine months ended April 30, 2009 which reduced the carrying value of IDT Global Israel's building in Israel. The Company retained exclusive control over the sale of this building after the Company disposed of 80% of the issued and outstanding shares of IDT Global Israel in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008. Once the building is sold, the Company will receive the net proceeds of the sale after the repayment of the obligations secured by the building. At April 30, 2009, the revised estimated sales price of the building net of costs to sell of \$12.7 million was included in "Other current assets" and the mortgage balance of \$6.0

million was included in "Other current liabilities".

As a result of the Company's conclusion that an interim impairment test of goodwill was required during the second quarter of fiscal 2009, the Company also assessed the recoverability of certain of its long-lived assets in accordance with SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets. The assessment of long-lived assets was based on projected undiscounted future cash flows of the long-lived asset groups compared to their carrying values. The Company's cash flow estimates were derived from the annual Company wide planning process and interim forecasting. The Company believes that its procedures for projecting future cash flows are reasonable and consistent with market conditions at the time of estimation. As a result of the Company's assessment under SFAS 144, as of April 30, 2009, the Company recorded aggregate impairments of \$2.3 million related to certain leasehold interests.

Table of Contents

Note 10—Restructuring Charges

The Company's restructuring charges by business segment consist of the following:

	Three Months Ended April 30,					Nine Months April 30 2009 sands)			
	2009			2008				2008	
	(in thou				ısar				
Telecom Platform Services	\$	301	\$	11,432	\$	4,191	\$	13,438	
Consumer Phone Services						542			
IDT Energy				_ 15			89		
IDT Capital		40		29		1,623		856	
Corporate		268		4,510		2,609		5,502	
Total	\$	609	\$	16,453	\$	8,438	\$	20,427	

The restructuring charges in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009 and 2008 consisted primarily of severance related to a company-wide cost savings program and reduction in force. As of April 30, 2009, these programs resulted in the termination of approximately 1,420 employees since the third quarter of fiscal 2006. As of April 30, 2009, the Company had a total of approximately 1,480 employees, of which approximately 1,060 are located in the United States and approximately 420 are located at the Company's international operations. The restructuring charges in the nine months ended April 30, 2009 also included costs for the shutdown or consolidation of certain facilities of \$0.7 million in Corporate and \$0.8 million in IDT Telecom. In the first quarter of fiscal 2009, IDT Telecom reversed accrued severance of \$2.6 million as a result of modifications to retention and/or severance agreements with certain employees. In the first quarter of fiscal 2008, IDT Spectrum reversed \$0.4 million of restructuring charges recorded in fiscal 2006 for a contract termination.

The following table summarizes the changes in the reserve balances related to the Company's restructuring activities (substantially all of which relates to workforce reductions):

	Jı	lance at uly 31, 2008	Charged to Expense		•			lance at oril 30, 2009
IDT Telecom	\$	10,854	\$	4,191	\$	(11,471)	\$	3,574
IDT Energy				15		(15)		
IDT Capital		526		1,623		(2,132)		17
Corporate		7,076		2,609		(5,461)		4,224
Total	\$	18,456	\$	8,438	\$	(19,079)	\$	7,815

Note 11—Business Segment Information

The Company has the following three reportable business segments: Telecom Platform Services, Consumer Phone Services and IDT Energy. All other operating segments that are not reportable individually are collectively called IDT Capital. Telecom Platform Services and Consumer Phone Services comprise the IDT Telecom division. The Company's reportable segments are distinguished by types of service, customers and methods used to provide their

services. The operating results of these business segments are regularly reviewed by the Company's chief operating decision maker.

The Telecom Platform Services segment includes wholesale carrier services provided to affiliates as well as other telecommunications companies. In addition, Telecom Platform Services markets and sells prepaid and rechargeable calling cards, prepaid wireless phone services and cable telephony services. The Consumer Phone Services segment provides consumer local and long distance services in the United States. The IDT Energy segment operates the Company's Energy Services Company, or ESCO, in New York State. IDT Capital consists of the IDT Local Media businesses (principally CTM Media Group, WMET radio and IDW Publishing), Zedge (which provides a web-based, worldwide destination for free, user-generated mobile content distribution and sharing), Alternative Energy (which consists of AMSO, the Company's U.S. oil shale initiative, and Israel Energy Initiatives, Ltd., the Company's Israeli alternative energy venture), certain real estate investments and other smaller businesses. Corporate costs include certain services, such as corporate executive compensation, consulting fees, treasury and accounts payable, tax and accounting services, human resources and payroll, corporate purchasing, corporate governance including Board of Directors' fees, internal and external audit, public and investor relations, corporate insurance, corporate legal, and business development, and other corporate-related general and administrative expenses including, among others, facilities costs, charitable contributions and travel, as well as depreciation expense on corporate assets. Corporate does not generate any revenues, nor does it incur any direct cost of revenues.

Table of Contents

In fiscal 2008, the telecommunications termination network services and costs incurred by IDT Telecom on behalf of all of its segments were treated as belonging to the Wholesale Telecommunications Services segment, which then recovered a portion of such services and costs, plus an agreed-upon mark-up profit, through an inter-segment billing process. IDT Telecom's senior management changed in the second half of fiscal 2008, and began to treat such termination network services and costs as a pass-through shared cost to all its segments rather than a profit center within Wholesale Telecommunications Services. As such, beginning in the first quarter of fiscal 2009, Wholesale Telecommunications Services ceased charging for the telecommunications services it provides to other segments, and the allocation of such services and related costs within IDT Telecom was revised accordingly. Beginning in the second quarter of fiscal 2009, the Prepaid Products segment and the Wholesale Telecommunications Services segment were combined into the Telecom Platform Services segment, and consumer phone services outside the United States were transferred from the Consumer Phone Services segment to Telecom Platform Services. The changes in the second quarter of fiscal 2009 reflect the overlap in the methods used to provide consumer phone services outside the United States, prepaid products and wholesale telecommunications services, as well as the way the operating results are reported and reviewed by the Company's chief operating decision maker. In addition, in the first quarter of fiscal 2009, certain real estate investments that were historically included in Corporate were transferred to IDT Capital, and IDW Publishing was transferred from the IDT Internet Mobile Group in IDT Capital to IDT Local Media in IDT Capital. To the extent possible, comparative historical results have been reclassified and restated as if the fiscal 2009 business segment structure existed in all periods presented, although these results may not be indicative of the results which would have been achieved had the business segment structure been in effect during those periods.

The accounting policies of the segments are the same as the accounting policies of the Company as a whole. The Company evaluates the performance of its business segments based primarily on operating income (loss). IDT Telecom depreciation and amortization are allocated to Telecom Platform Services and Consumer Phone Services because the related assets are not tracked separately by segment. There are no other significant asymmetrical allocations to segments.

Operating results for the business segments of the Company are as follows:

(in thousands) Three Months Ended April 30, 2009	F	Telecom Platform Services]	onsumer Phone ervices		IDT Energy	,	IDT Capital	Co	orporate	Total
Revenues	\$	299,595	\$	12,577	\$	66,669	\$	10,148	\$	— \$	388,989
Operating (loss) income		(33,012)		3,588		12,819		(34,278)		(6,388)	(57,271)
Impairments		29,039		_	_	_	_	33,081		_	62,120
Restructuring charges		301		_	_	_	_	40		268	609
Three Months Ended April 30, 2008											
Revenues	\$	342,403	\$	18,965	\$	66,290	\$	13,077	\$	— \$	440,735
Operating (loss) income		(35,443)		8,197		850		(17,724)		(28,278)	(72,398)
Impairments		54		_	_	_	_	_	_	_	54
Restructuring charges		11,432		482		_	_	29		4,510	16,453
Nine Months Ended April 30, 2009											
Revenues	\$	956,132	\$	42,117	\$	227,720	\$	32,812	\$	— \$	1,258,781
Operating (loss) income		(49,602)		15,312		40,363		(57,463)		(26,443)	(77,833)

Impairments	29,052	_	_	43,709	_	72,761
Restructuring charges	4,191	<u> </u>	15	1,623	2,609	8,438
Nine Months Ended April 30, 2008						
Revenues	\$ 1,087,327 \$	63,648 \$	173,434 \$	39,088 \$	— \$	1,363,497
Operating (loss) income	(23,428)	18,448	4,459	(45,579)	(64,623)	(110,723)
Impairments	242		_	20	_	262
Restructuring charges	13,438	542	89	856	5,502	20,427

IDT Capital's loss from operations in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009 is net of a gain of \$2.6 million from the sale of a 50% interest in AMSO, LLC (see Note 5). The Telecom Platform Services segment's loss from operations in the nine months ended April 30, 2008 is net of arbitration award income of \$40.0 million (see Note 3).

Note 12—Derivative Instruments

The Company is exposed to certain risks relating to its ongoing business operations. The primary risks managed by using derivative instruments are commodity price risk and interest rate risk. Natural gas and electricity forward contracts are entered into to fix the price that IDT Energy will pay for specified amounts of natural gas and electricity on specified dates. An interest rate swap is used to achieve a fixed interest rate on a portion of the Company's variable-rate debt. Finally, one of the Company's marketable securities is a structured note that contains an embedded derivative feature.

Table of Contents

IDT Energy has entered into forward contracts as hedges against unfavorable fluctuations in natural gas and electricity prices. These contracts do not qualify for hedge accounting treatment and therefore, the changes in fair value are recorded in earnings. As of April 30, 2009, IDT Energy had the following outstanding forward contracts:

	Settlement	
Commodity	Date	Volume
Electricity		8,800
	June 2009	MW h
Electricity	September	8,400
	2009	MW h
Natural gas	August	77,500
	2009	mmbtu
Natural gas	January	77,500
	2010	mmbtu
Natural gas	February	70,000
	2010	mmbtu
Natural gas	March	77,500
-	2010	mmbtu

The Company has an interest rate swap related to the variable rate obligations secured by the IDT Global Israel building. As of April 30, 2009, the total notional amount of the Company's receive variable/pay fixed interest rate swap was \$6.0 million.

The structured note included in marketable securities as of April 30, 2009 has a par value of \$5.0 million and matures in November 2009.

The fair value of outstanding derivative instruments recorded as liabilities in the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets were as follows:

Liability Derivatives	Balance Sheet Location	April 30	0, 2009 (in thousa	July 31, 200 ands)	8
Derivatives designated as hedging instruments under SFAS 133:					
Energy contracts	Other current liabilities	\$	610	\$	
Interest rate contracts	Other current liabilities		321		
Total derivatives designated as hedging instruments under SFAS 133			931		_
Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments under SFAS 133:					
Structured note embedded derivative	Other current liabilities		2,151		_
Total derivatives not designated as hedging instruments under SFAS 133			2,151		_
Total liability derivatives		\$	3,082	\$	_

The effects of derivative instruments on the condensed consolidated statements of operations were as follows:

Amount of Gain (Loss) Recognized on Derivatives

Derivatives in SFAS 133 Fai	r Location of Gain (Loss)	7	Three Mon April			Nine Months Ended April 30,				
Value Hedging Relationships	2000 (2000)		2009		2008 (in thousa	2009 ands)		2008		
Energy contracts	Direct cost of revenues	\$	(290)	\$	21 \$	(1,067)	\$	665		
Interest rate contracts	Other income (expense), net		53			(321)				
	_									
Total		\$	(237)	\$	21 \$	(1,388)	\$	665		
			Amount of (Three Mon April	ths l	Ended	ognized on l Nine Mon Apri	ths l	Ended		
Derivatives Not Designated a Hedging Instruments Under SFAS 133			2009		2008 (in thousa	2009 ands)		2008		
Structured note embedded derivative	Other income (expense), net	\$	318	\$	— \$	(1,996)	\$	_		
	_									
Total		\$	318	\$	— \$	(1,996)	\$			

The Company is exposed to credit loss in the event of nonperformance by counterparties on the above derivative instruments. Although nonperformance is possible, the Company does not anticipate nonperformance by any of these parties primarily because the contracts are with creditworthy counterparties.

Table of Contents

Note 13—Legal Proceedings

On May 18, 2009, a subsidiary of the Company was served with notice of a complaint (which was subsequently amended) filed on May 15, 2009 by T-Mobile USA, Inc. ("T-Mobile") against IDT Domestic Telecom, Inc. ("Domestic Telecom"), in the Superior Court of the State of Washington, King County. The complaint alleges that Domestic Telecom breached a Wholesale Supply Agreement entered into between T-Mobile and Domestic Telecom in February 2005, as amended, by failing to purchase at least \$75 million in services from T-Mobile (T-Mobile claims that Domestic Telecom purchased only approximately \$31 million of services). T-Mobile is seeking monetary damages, including interest and costs, in an amount to be determined at trial. The Company believes that it has valid defenses to T-Mobile's allegations and intends to conduct a vigorous legal defense. This matter is in its early stages and therefore the Company is unable to form an estimate of any potential liabilities to the Company related to this matter.

On August 27, 2003, Aerotel, Ltd., Aerotel U.S.A., and Aerotel U.S.A., LLC ("Aerotel") filed a complaint against the Company in the United States District Court, Southern District of New York, seeking damages for alleged infringement of a patent. The parties reached a settlement and pursuant to a stipulation of dismissal, all claims and counterclaims have been dismissed. The settlement provided for a payment of \$15 million in cash to Aerotel, which the Company paid in the first quarter of fiscal 2008. The settlement also required the Company to make available to Aerotel calling cards or PINs over time with potential termination costs of up to \$15 million, subject to certain other conditions. In connection with this settlement, the Company accrued an expense of \$24 million in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2007. On May 13, 2008, Aerotel, Ltd. filed a complaint against the Company in the United States District Court Southern District of New York related to a dispute concerning the settlement agreement between the Company and Aerotel. The complaint alleges Breach of Contract, Anticipatory Breach, and Breach of Covenant of Good Faith and Fair Dealing. Aerotel, Ltd. is seeking damages in the amount of at least \$30 million. On June 8, 2009, the parties appeared for a settlement conference before the Court and reached a verbal settlement in principle, the terms of which are being finalized. In connection with this matter, the Company accrued an additional expense of \$6 million in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008.

On May 5, 2004, the Company filed a complaint in the Supreme Court of the State of New York, County of New York, seeking injunctive relief and damages against Tyco Group, S.A.R.L., Tyco Telecommunications (US) Inc. (f/k/a TyCom (US) Inc.), Tyco International, Ltd., Tyco International (US) Inc., and TyCom Ltd. The Company alleged that the defendants breached a settlement agreement that they had entered into with the Company to resolve certain disputes and civil actions among the parties. The Company alleged that the defendants did not provide the Company, as required under the settlement agreement, free of charge and for the Company's exclusive use, a 15-year indefeasible right to use four Wavelengths in Ring Configuration (as defined in the settlement agreement) ("Wavelengths") on a global undersea fiber optic network that TyCom Ltd. was deploying at that time. In June 2004, Tyco International (US) Inc. and Tyco Telecommunications (US) Inc. asserted several counterclaims against the Company, alleging that the Company breached the settlement agreement and is liable for damages for allegedly refusing to accept the defendants' offer regarding the Wavelengths referenced in the settlement agreement and for making a public statement that Tyco failed to provide the Company with the use of its Wavelengths. The parties completed pre-trial discovery and each party filed motions for summary judgment. On July 11, 2007, the Court granted the Company's motion for partial summary judgment on liability, and granted its motion for summary judgment on Tyco's counterclaims. On November 21, 2007, Tyco filed a notice of appeal of the order granting the Company's motion for summary judgment on liability. On January 24, 2008, the Appellate Court granted a motion made by Tyco and stayed proceedings in the trial court until the appeal is decided. On August 19, 2008, the Appellate Division issued a decision and order reversing the trial court's grant of partial summary judgment on the issue of liability to the Company and granted the portion of defendants' cross motion seeking summary judgment dismissing the complaint and remanded the matter to the Supreme Court for further proceedings. On September 18, 2008, the Company filed its request for reargument, or in the alternative, for leave to appeal to the Court of Appeals. On December 30, 2008, the Appellate Division granted the Company's request for leave to appeal to the Court of Appeals. On May 18, 2009, the parties submitted the briefs

on that appeal and oral argument is scheduled for September 15, 2009.

On March 29, 2004, D. Michael Jewett ("Jewett"), a former employee whose employment the Company terminated less than seven months after he was first hired, filed a complaint against the Company in the United States District Court, District of New Jersey, following his termination. The complaint alleges (i) violations of the New Jersey Anti-Racketeering Statute; (ii) violations of the New Jersey Conscientious Employee Protection Act ("CEPA"); (iii) violations of the New Jersey Law Against Discrimination ("LAD"); (iv) common law defamation; and (v) New Jersey common law intentional infliction of emotional distress ("IIED"). Jewett is seeking damages of \$31 million, plus attorneys' fees. The Court dismissed the Anti-Racketeering claim and a portion of the LAD claim; and narrowed the remaining claims described above. The Company denies liability for the remaining claims, On January 25, 2006, Jewett filed an amended supplemental pleading which the Company moved to dismiss. Plaintiff opposed the Company's motion. On September 11, 2007, Judge Chesler issued an order which dismissed the CEPA and LAD claims, without prejudice, against all individual defendants with the exception of Jewett's direct supervisor. Judge Chesler also granted in part and denied in part the Company's motion to dismiss the supplemental complaint. Judge Chesler dismissed plaintiff's abuse of process and defamation claims with prejudice. However, the judge denied the motion to dismiss the count for IIED. Thereafter, defendants were permitted to file another motion to dismiss plaintiff's IIED claim in the amended supplemental complaint, which the plaintiff opposed. On February 19, 2008, Judge Chesler issued an Opinion and Order dismissing plaintiff's IIED claim. Plaintiff also sought leave to amend his complaint and supplemental complaint to add some additional claims, which was denied as well. The parties participated in non-binding mediation on December 15, 2008, which was not successful. Discovery is continuing.

Table of Contents

On April 1, 2004, Jewett sent a copy of his complaint to the United States Attorney's Office because in his complaint, Jewett alleged, among other things, that improper payments were made to foreign officials in connection with an IDT Telecom contract. As a result, the Department of Justice ("DOJ"), the SEC and the United States Attorney in Newark, New Jersey conducted an investigation of this matter. The Company and the Audit Committee of the Company's Board of Directors initiated independent investigations, by outside counsel, regarding certain of the matters raised in the Jewett complaint and in these investigations. Neither the Company's nor the Audit Committee's investigations have found any evidence that the Company made any such improper payments to foreign officials. The Company continues to cooperate with these investigations, which the SEC and DOJ have confirmed are still ongoing.

On June 1, 2006, the Company filed a complaint in the United States District Court for the District of New Jersey alleging that eBay, Inc., Skype Technologies SA, Skype, Inc. and several as of yet unidentified business entities (collectively, "Skype") infringed patents owned by the Company. The Company's complaint was amended to include claims for Skype's alleged infringement of additional patents, all owned by the Company. The lawsuit seeks, among other things, an injunction enjoining Skype from infringing these patents and monetary damages in connection with Skype's alleged infringement. Skype has answered the complaint and amended complaints, denying any liability with respect to the Company's claims and asserted counterclaims. The parties have exchanged expert reports, are completing pre-trial discovery and submitted a final pre-trial order to the Court in December 2008. A request has been filed with the United States Patent and Trademark Office ("USPTO") to reexamine the patents in question. Subsequently, Skype filed a motion to stay the New Jersey litigation pending the USPTO's decision on the request for reexamination. The hearing on the motion to stay is scheduled for July 13, 2009. At or after the claim construction hearing (which has yet to be scheduled), the Court will set a summary judgment briefing schedule. On February 20, 2008, eBay, Inc. filed a complaint (which was subsequently amended) in the United States District Court for the Western District of Arkansas alleging that IDT Corporation, Net2Phone, Inc., IDT Telecom, Inc. and the Company's 51%-owned U.S. calling card distribution partnership, Union Telecard Alliance, LLC ("UTA") infringed U.S. Patent No. 6,067,350 that is owned by eBay, Inc. The lawsuit seeks, among other things, an injunction enjoining the Company from infringing the patent and an undetermined amount of monetary damages in connection with the Company's alleged infringement. On April 23, 2008, the Company answered eBay's complaint and denied all wrongdoing. The Company also filed counterclaims against eBay, for infringement of three Net2Phone patents: U.S. Patents numbers 6,275,490; 5,974,414; and 6,631,399. The Company asked the court in Arkansas to enjoin those portions of eBay's auction business that infringe Net2Phone patents and to award Net2Phone damages as a result of eBay's patent infringement. eBay has answered Net2Phone's counterclaims, denied all wrongdoing and asserted counterclaims. The Court held a claim construction hearing on February 24-25, 2009, and scheduled the trial for October 2009. On May 19, 2009, the parties participated in non-binding mediation, which was not successful. The parties are now actively engaged in pre-trial discovery.

On March 8, 2007, IDT Telecom, Inc. and UTA filed a complaint and on April 2, 2007 an amended complaint in the United States District Court for the District of New Jersey against several prepaid calling card companies. The lawsuit alleges that the defendants are systematically falsely promising minutes in their voice prompts and other advertisements that consumers cannot obtain from the cards they have bought. The Company sought an injunction barring the defendants from continuing their false promises as well as money damages and asserts that the defendants have violated the federal Lanham Act as well as several states' false advertising and deceptive trade practices statutes. On May 9, 2007, the judge denied the Company's motion for a preliminary injunction, which decision was affirmed by the Court of Appeals for the Third Circuit, and also denied motions to dismiss filed by all of the non-settling defendants who claimed that the Court lacked jurisdiction. In 2007, the Company had settled with five of the defendant groups. The Company is continuing to pursue the case against the non-settling defendants, which on February 11, 2009, filed motions for summary judgment, which the Company opposed. The trial is expected to begin on October 5, 2009.

In addition to the foregoing, the Company is subject to other legal proceedings that have arisen in the ordinary course of business and have not been finally adjudicated. Although there can be no assurance in this regard, in the opinion of the Company's management, none of the legal proceedings to which the Company is a party, whether discussed above or otherwise, will have a material adverse effect on the Company's results of operations, cash flows or its financial condition.

Note 14—Commitments and Contingencies

The Company had purchase commitments and other obligations of \$2.1 million as of April 30, 2009.

As a result of an IRS audit of the Company's federal tax returns for fiscal years 2001, 2002, 2003 and 2004, the Company owed approximately \$75 million in taxes for fiscal 2001, approximately \$1 million for adjustments carried forward to fiscal 2005 and 2006, and \$39.5 million in interest. In connection therewith, the Company paid \$80.0 million of the amount owed between July 2008 and January 2009. On January 27, 2009, the Company entered into a modified installment agreement with the IRS, whereby it agreed to pay the remaining amounts owed to the IRS for fiscal years 2001 – 2004 by June 2009. During the third quarter of fiscal 2009, the Company paid \$25.0 million to the IRS on its outstanding balance. By June 15, 2009, the Company will have paid an additional \$13.4 million to fully satisfy its obligation under the modified agreement. The final payment may be reduced if the IRS waives the penalties. In December 2008, the IRS commenced an audit of the Company's federal tax returns for fiscal years 2005, 2006 and 2007. In May 2009, the IRS assessed a liability of \$1.2 million for fiscal year 2005 which represents the approximately \$1 million previously agreed to plus interest. In addition, an audit in the Netherlands of a subsidiary of the Company was completed in October 2008 that resulted in a settlement of \$4.4 million including interest, which was paid in December 2008. Management of the Company believes that it has adequately reserved for all tax positions, however amounts asserted by taxing authorities could be greater than the accrued amounts. Accordingly, additional tax provisions may be recorded in the future as revised estimates are made or the underlying matters are settled or resolved.

Table of Contents

As of April 30, 2009, the Company had letters of credit outstanding totaling \$65.8 million, the majority of which expire by April 30, 2010. As of April 30, 2009 and July 31, 2008, cash and cash equivalents of \$58.7 million and \$4.1 million, respectively, that serve as collateral were restricted against such letters of credit, and were included in "Restricted cash and cash equivalents" in the Company's condensed consolidated balance sheets. Also, as of April 30, 2009 and July 31, 2008, marketable securities of \$5.2 million and \$78.7 million, respectively were restricted primarily against letters of credit, and were included in "Marketable securities" in the Company's condensed consolidated balance sheets. The letters of credit outstanding at April 30, 2009 and July 31, 2008 were primarily collateral for IDT Energy's purchases of natural gas through wholesale bilateral contracts with suppliers and various utility companies and electric capacity, energy and ancillary services through the wholesale markets, as well as to secure mortgage repayments on various buildings.

As of April 30, 2009 and July 31, 2008, "Cash and cash equivalents" in the Company's condensed consolidated balance sheets included approximately \$10 million and \$4 million, respectively, and "Marketable securities" included nil and approximately \$6 million, respectively, that was held pursuant to regulatory requirements related to the Company's European prepaid payment services business.

On July 10, 2008, the Federal Communications Commission ("FCC") released a Notice of Apparent Liability ("NAL") of \$1.3 million related to one of the Company's international telecommunications service agreements. The NAL claims that the Company violated section 220 of the Telecom Act, and section 43.51 of the FCC's rules by willfully and repeatedly failing to file with the FCC, within thirty days of execution, a copy of an agreement with Telecommunications D'Haiti S.A.M. and each of four amendments thereto governing, among other things, the exchange of services, routing of traffic, accounting rates, and division of tolls on the U.S.-Haiti route. On October 29, 2008, the FCC released an order adopting an October 29, 2008 Consent Decree entered into between the Company and the FCC's Enforcement Bureau resolving the matter. As part of the Consent Decree, in November 2008 the Company made a voluntary contribution to the United States Treasury in the amount of \$0.4 million and will further develop its FCC compliance plan.

The Company is currently subject to audits by different European taxing authorities, including audits relating to value added tax ("VAT") that the Company has not collected for calling cards sold to distributors who, in turn, resell such cards in various jurisdictions in Europe. On September 4, 2008, a Swedish court granted an application made by the Swedish Tax Agency to seize SEK 100 million (\$12.1 million) of assets owned by one of the Company's subsidiaries, Inter Direct Tel Ltd., as security for payment of VAT. Inter Direct Tel appealed the seizure order and on October 6, 2008, the appellate court reversed the lower court's seizure order. On December 17, 2008, the Swedish Tax Agency sent Inter Direct Tel an Audit Memo describing its reasoning for a VAT assessment of approximately SEK 112 million (\$14.4 million) and SEK 22 million (\$2.9 million) in penalties. On March 27, 2009, Inter Direct Tel responded to the comments in the Audit Memo. On June 5, 2009, Inter Direct Tel received a re-assessment from the Swedish Tax Agency in the same amounts assessed in the Audit Memo with the payment due on July 13, 2009. The Company intends to appeal the re-assessment and request a suspension of the payment obligation until the matter is addressed by the appropriate court. As the Company intends to challenge the re-assessment, it cannot be certain of the ultimate outcome. Imposition of assessments as a result of tax and regulatory audits could have an adverse affect on the Company's results of operations, cash flows and financial condition.

The Company's distribution agreement with Union Telecard Alliance, LLC, which distributes most of the Company's prepaid calling cards in the United States, expired on April 24, 2009. The Company is currently distributing prepaid calling cards and other products through Union Telecard Alliance, LLC on a month-to-month basis.

Note 15—Related Party Transaction

On September 23, 2008, the Company sold a 10% ownership interest in Zedge to Shaman II, L.P. for cash of \$1.0 million. One of the limited partners in Shaman II, L.P. was a former employee of the Company. The Company records the effect of changes in its ownership interest resulting from the issuance of equity by one of its subsidiaries in the condensed consolidated statement of operations. Accordingly, in the first quarter of fiscal 2009, the Company recorded a gain of \$0.3 million on the sale of Zedge stock.

Note 16—Headquarters Relocation

In February 2009, the Company announced that it will move its headquarters in Newark, N.J. The Company is consolidating its operations into considerably less office space in newly leased headquarters, leaving its current building at 520 Broad Street in Newark and moving a block away to 550 Broad Street. The Company will remain at 550 Broad Street on an interim basis while evaluating other long term relocation options. The Company leased 72,500 square feet at 550 Broad Street for one year commencing in May 2009, with options to renew the lease through May 2019. The minimum rent for the first year is \$0.9 million payable semi-annually. At April 30, 2009, the carrying value of the land, building and improvements at 520 Broad Street was \$50.5 million and the mortgage payable balance was \$26.1 million. The Company evaluated the land, building and improvements for impairment and determined that the carrying value was recoverable. The Company is assessing a range of options as to the future use of 520 Broad Street, some of which could result in a loss from a reduction in the carrying value of the land, building and improvements and such loss could be material.

Table of Contents

Note 17—Proposed Spin-Off of Certain Subsidiaries

On May 12, 2009, the Company's Board of Directors approved a tax-free spinoff (the "Spin-Off") to its stockholders of the equity of CTM Media Holdings, Inc. ("Holdings"). Prior to effecting the Spin-Off, the following subsidiaries of the Company would be transferred to Holdings: (i) CTM Media Group, Inc.; (ii) IDT Local Media, Inc.; (iii) IDT Internet Mobile Group, which holds the Company's majority interest in Idea and Design Works, LLC (IDW Publishing); and (iv) Beltway Acquisition Corporation, which holds the broadcast license of the WMET-AM radio station. Approval of the Spin-Off by the Company's stockholders is not required.

The Company's Board of Directors believes that the Spin-Off will separate certain business units whose performance and financial results of the business units to be separated are more predictable and have different growth characteristics than the remaining operations. The Company also believes that separating the two groups of operating units will allow management of each of the Company and Holdings to design and implement corporate strategies and policies that are based primarily on the business characteristics of that company and its business units, maintain a sharper focus on core business and growth opportunities, and concentrate their financial resources wholly on their own operations. Moreover, the separation of Holdings will provide investors with greater transparency regarding the value of Holdings' business units. In addition, the Spin-Off will separate business units with different risk profiles and performance characteristics from one another.

The planned Spin-Off will be accomplished through a pro rata distribution of Holdings' common stock to the Company's stockholders of record as of the close of business on the record date which has yet to be determined by the Company's Board of Directors. As a result of the Spin-Off, it is currently contemplated that each of the Company's stockholders will receive: (i) one share of Holdings Class A common stock for every three shares of the Company's common stock held on the record date; (ii) one share of Holdings Class A common stock for every three shares of the Company's Class B common stock held on the record date; (iii) one share of Holdings Class B common stock for every three shares of the Company's Class A common stock held on the record date; and (iv) cash in lieu of a fractional share of all classes of Holdings' common stock.

Completion of the Spin-Off is subject to effectiveness of a Form 10 registration statement filed with the SEC. The Form 10 was filed on May 13, 2009 with the SEC and includes detailed information about Holdings, the Spin-Off and related matters. The Company and Holdings will distribute an information statement to stockholders following completion of the SEC's review of the Form 10. The Company's Board of Directors reserves the right to amend, modify or abandon the Spin-Off and the related transactions at any time prior to the distribution date.

This discussion of the proposed Spin-Off contains forward-looking statements addressing the Spin-Off, the operation, business and prospects of the Company and Holdings following the Spin-Off and other expectations, prospects, estimates and other matters that are dependent upon future events or developments. These matters are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those projected, anticipated or implied. These risks and uncertainties include uncertainties regarding the Spin-Off, including the timing and terms of the Spin-Off and whether the Spin-Off will be completed, and uncertainties regarding the impacts on the Company and Holdings and the market for their respective securities if the Spin-Off is accomplished.

Note 18—Recently Issued Accounting Standards Not Yet Adopted

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141 (Revised 2007), Business Combinations. SFAS 141(R) establishes principles and requirements for how the acquirer: (a) recognizes and measures the identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities assumed, and any noncontrolling interest in the acquiree, (b) recognizes and measures the goodwill acquired in the business combination or a gain from a bargain purchase, and (c) determines what information to disclose to enable users of the financial statements to evaluate the nature and financial effects of the business

combination. SFAS 141(R) requires the acquiring entity in a business combination to recognize the full fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the transaction at the acquisition date; in-process research and development will be recorded at fair value as an indefinite-lived intangible asset at the acquisition date; the immediate expense recognition of transaction costs; changes in deferred tax asset valuation allowances and income tax uncertainties after the acquisition date generally will affect income tax expense; and restructuring plans will be accounted for separately from the business combination, among other things. In April 2009, the FASB issued FSP 141(R)-1, Accounting for Assets Acquired and Liabilities Assumed in a Business Combination That Arise from Contingencies, which amends and clarifies SFAS 141(R) with regards to the initial recognition and measurement, subsequent measurement and accounting, and disclosure of assets and liabilities arising from contingencies in a business combination. The Company is required to apply SFAS 141(R) and FSP 141(R)-1 to business combinations with an acquisition date on or after August 1, 2009. SFAS 141(R) fundamentally changes many aspects of existing accounting requirements for business combinations. As such, if the Company enters into any business combinations after the adoption of SFAS 141(R), a transaction may significantly impact the Company's financial position and results of operations, but not cash flows, when compared to acquisitions accounted for under current US GAAP.

Table of Contents

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements—an amendment of ARB No. 51. SFAS 160 clarifies that a noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary is an ownership interest in the consolidated entity that should be reported as equity in the consolidated financial statements. Also, SFAS 160 requires consolidated net income (loss) to include the amounts attributable to both the parent and the noncontrolling interest, and it requires disclosure of the amounts of net income (loss) attributable to the parent and to the noncontrolling interest. Finally, SFAS 160 requires increases and decreases in the noncontrolling ownership interest amount to be accounted for as equity transactions, and the gain or loss on the deconsolidation of a subsidiary will be measured using the fair value of any noncontrolling equity investment rather than the carrying amount of the retained investment. The Company is required to adopt SFAS 160 on August 1, 2009. Upon the adoption of SFAS 160, the Company will change the classification and presentation of noncontrolling interest in its financial statements, which is currently referred to as minority interests. The Company is still evaluating the impact that SFAS 160 will have on its consolidated financial statements, but the Company does not expect SFAS 160 to have a material impact on its financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In April 2008, the FASB issued FSP No. FAS 142-3, Determination of the Useful Life of Intangible Assets. This FSP amends the factors that should be considered in developing renewal or extension assumptions used to determine the useful life of a recognized intangible asset under SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. The Company is required to adopt FSP 142-3 on August 1, 2009. The guidance in FSP 142-3 for determining the useful life of a recognized intangible asset shall be applied prospectively to intangible assets acquired after adoption, and the disclosure requirements shall be applied prospectively to all intangible assets recognized as of, and subsequent to, adoption. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of FSP 142-3 on its consolidated financial statements.

In April 2009, the FASB issued FSP No. FAS 115-2 and FAS 124-2, Recognition and Presentation of Other-Than-Temporary Impairments. This FSP amends the guidance in US GAAP for assessing whether an impairment of a debt security is other than temporary, and revises the presentation and disclosure in the financial statements of other than temporary impairments of debt and equity securities. The Company was required to adopt FSP 115-2 on May 1, 2009. In addition, in April 2009, the SEC amended Topic 5.M. in the Staff Accounting Bulletin Series entitled Other Than Temporary Impairment of Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities to exclude debt securities from its scope. Topic 5.M. as amended maintains the staff's previous views related to equity securities. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of FSP 115-2 on its consolidated financial statements. The Company does not expect the amendment to Topic 5.M. to have a material impact on its financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In April 2009, the FASB issued FSP No. FAS 107-1 and APB 28-1, Interim Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments, which amends SFAS 107, Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments, to require disclosures about fair value of financial instruments for interim reporting periods of publicly traded companies as well as in annual financial statements. This FSP also amends APB Opinion No. 28, Interim Financial Reporting, to require those disclosures in summarized financial information at interim reporting periods. The FSP also requires entities to disclose the methods and significant assumptions used to estimate fair value of financial instruments in interim financial statements, and to highlight any changes in the methods and assumptions from prior periods. FSP 107-1 became effective for the Company's financial statements beginning on May 1, 2009. The Company will include the disclosures required by FSP 107-1 in its consolidated financial statements for its first quarter ending October 31, 2009.

In May 2009, the FASB issued SFAS No. 165, Subsequent Events, to establish principles and requirements for subsequent events, in particular: (a) the period after the balance sheet date during which management of a reporting entity shall evaluate events or transactions that may occur for potential recognition or disclosure in the financial statements, (b) the circumstances under which an entity shall recognize events or transactions occurring after the balance sheet date in its financial statements, and (c) the disclosures that an entity shall make about events or transactions that occurred after the balance sheet date. SFAS 165 is effective prospectively for interim or annual

financial periods ending after June 15, 2009. SFAS 165 should not result in significant changes in the subsequent events that the Company reports in its financial statements, because it does not change the previous recognition and disclosure guidance in the accounting literature and it does not change the date through which the Company was expected to evaluate subsequent events. This statement requires management to disclose the date through which subsequent events have been evaluated, which the Company will begin to disclose in its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ending July 31, 2009.

Table of Contents

Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following information should be read in conjunction with the accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements and the associated notes thereto of this Quarterly Report, and the audited consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto and our Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations contained in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended July 31, 2008, as filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC).

In accordance with Item 10(f)(2)(iii) of Regulation S-K, we qualify as a "smaller reporting company" because our public float was below \$50 million as of January 30, 2009, the last business day of our second fiscal quarter. We therefore followed the disclosure requirements of Regulation S-K applicable to smaller reporting companies in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

As used below, unless the context otherwise requires, the terms "the Company," "IDT," "we," "us," and "our" refer to IDT Corporation, a Delaware corporation, its predecessor, International Discount Telecommunications, Corp., a New York corporation, and their subsidiaries, collectively.

Forward-Looking Statements

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, including statements that contain the words "believes," "anticipates," "expects," "plans," "intends," and similar words and phrases. These forward-looking statement are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from the results projected in any forward-looking statement. In addition to the factors specifically noted in the forward-looking statements, other important factors, risks and uncertainties that could result in those differences include, but are not limited to, those discussed under Item 1A to Part I "Risk Factors" in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2008. The forward-looking statements are made as of the date of this report and we assume no obligation to update the forward-looking statements, or to update the reasons why actual results could differ from those projected in the forward-looking statements. Investors should consult all of the information set forth in this report and the other information set forth from time to time in our reports filed with the SEC pursuant to the Securities Act of 1933 and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, including our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended July 31, 2008.

Overview

General

We are a multinational holding company with subsidiaries spanning several industries. Our principal businesses consist of:

4DT Telecom, which provides telecommunications services to consumers and businesses, including prepaid and rechargeable calling cards, a range of voice over Internet protocol (VoIP) communications services, wholesale carrier services and local, long distance and wireless phone services;

• IDT Energy, which operates our Energy Services Company, or ESCO, in New York State;

IDT Local Media, which is primarily comprised of CTM Media Group, our brochure distribution company, IDW Publishing, which is a comic book and graphics novel publisher that creates and licenses original intellectual property, and the WMET-AM radio station in the Washington D.C. metropolitan area;

Alternative Energy, which consists of American Shale Oil Corporation, or AMSO, our U.S. oil shale initiative, and Israel Energy Initiatives, Ltd., or IEI, our Israeli alternative energy venture; and

Zedge, which provides a web-based, worldwide destination for free, user-generated mobile content distribution and sharing.

We also hold assets including certain real estate investments, and operate other smaller or early-stage initiatives and operations.

We conduct our business through the following three reportable segments: Telecom Platform Services and Consumer Phone Services, which comprise IDT Telecom, and IDT Energy. All other operating segments that are not reportable individually are collectively called IDT Capital. IDT Capital includes the following businesses: IDT Local Media, Zedge, Alternative Energy, our real estate investments and various other smaller lines of business.

In February 2009, we announced that we will move our headquarters in Newark, N.J. We are consolidating operations into considerably less office space in newly leased headquarters, leaving our current building at 520 Broad Street in Newark and moving a block away to 550 Broad Street. We will remain at 550 Broad Street on an interim basis while evaluating other long term relocation options. We leased 72,500 square feet at 550 Broad Street for one year commencing in May 2009, with options to renew the lease through May 2019. The minimum rent for the first year is \$0.9 million payable semi-annually. At April 30, 2009, the carrying value of the land, building and improvements at 520 Broad Street was \$50.5 million and the mortgage payable balance was \$26.1 million. We evaluated the land, building and improvements for impairment and determined that the carrying value was recoverable. We are assessing a range of options as to the future use of 520 Broad Street, some of which could result in a loss from a reduction in the carrying value of the land, building and improvements and such loss could be material.

Table of Contents

Proposed Spin-Off of Certain Subsidiaries

On May 12, 2009, our Board of Directors approved a tax-free spinoff (the "Spin-Off") to our stockholders of the equity of CTM Media Holdings, Inc. (Holdings). Prior to effecting the Spin-Off, the following subsidiaries of ours would be transferred to Holdings: (i) CTM Media Group, Inc.; (ii) IDT Local Media, Inc.; (iii) IDT Internet Mobile Group, which holds our majority interest in Idea and Design Works, LLC (IDW Publishing); and (iv) Beltway Acquisition Corporation, which holds the broadcast license of the WMET-AM radio station. Approval of the Spin-Off by our stockholders is not required.

Our Board of Directors believes that the Spin-Off will separate certain business units whose performance and financial results of the business units to be separated are more predictable and have different growth characteristics than the remaining operations. We also believe that separating the two groups of operating units will allow our management and Holdings' management to design and implement corporate strategies and policies that are based primarily on the business characteristics of that company and its business units, maintain a sharper focus on core business and growth opportunities, and concentrate their financial resources wholly on their own operations. Moreover, the separation of Holdings will provide investors with greater transparency regarding the value of Holdings' business units. In addition, the Spin-Off will separate business units with different risk profiles and performance characteristics from one another.

The planned Spin-Off will be accomplished through a pro rata distribution of Holdings' common stock to our stockholders of record as of the close of business on the record date which has yet to be determined by our Board of Directors. As a result of the Spin-Off, it is currently contemplated that each of our stockholders will receive: (i) one share of Holdings Class A common stock for every three shares of our common stock held on the record date; (ii) one share of Holdings Class A common stock for every three shares of our Class B common stock held on the record date; (iii) one share of Holdings Class B common stock for every three shares of our Class A common stock held on the record date; and (iv) cash in lieu of a fractional share of all classes of Holdings' common stock.

Completion of the Spin-Off is subject to effectiveness of a Form 10 registration statement filed with the SEC. The Form 10 was filed on May 13, 2009 with the SEC and includes detailed information about Holdings, the Spin-Off and related matters. We and Holdings will distribute an information statement to stockholders following completion of the SEC's review of the Form 10. Our Board of Directors reserves the right to amend, modify or abandon the Spin-Off and the related transactions at any time prior to the distribution date.

This discussion of the proposed Spin-Off contains forward-looking statements addressing the Spin-Off, the operation, business and prospects of us and Holdings following the Spin-Off and other expectations, prospects, estimates and other matters that are dependent upon future events or developments. These matters are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those projected, anticipated or implied. These risks and uncertainties include uncertainties regarding the Spin-Off, including the timing and terms of the Spin-Off and whether the Spin-Off will be completed, and uncertainties regarding the impacts on us and Holdings and the market for their respective securities if the Spin-Off is accomplished.

Discontinued Operations

IDT Carmel

On January 30, 2009, IDT Carmel, Inc., IDT Carmel Portfolio Management LLC, and FFPM Carmel Holdings I LLC (all of which are subsidiaries of ours and are collectively IDT Carmel) and Sherman Originator III LLC consummated the sale, pursuant to a Purchase and Sale Contract, of substantially all of IDT Carmel Portfolio Management LLC's debt portfolios with an aggregate face value of \$951.6 million for cash of \$18.0 million. We received the purchase price on February 2, 2009. We exited the debt collection business in April 2009. IDT Carmel met the criteria to be

reported as a discontinued operation and accordingly, IDT Carmel's assets, liabilities, results of operations and cash flows are classified as discontinued operations for all periods presented. IDT Carmel recognized a loss of \$34.3 million in the second quarter of fiscal 2009 in connection with the sale of its debt portfolios.

Revenues, loss before income taxes and net loss of IDT Carmel, which is included in discontinued operations, are as follows:

		Three Mor	 nded		Nine Mon Apri	 ded
		2009	2008		2009	2008
			(in tho	usand	s)	
Revenues	\$ 932		\$ 12,513	\$	16,534	\$ 34,542
(Loss) income before income taxes	\$	(3,039)	\$ 1,830	\$	(38,867)	\$ (8,335)
Net (loss) income	\$	(3,039)	\$ 1,844	\$	(38,867)	\$ (8,640)

Table of Contents

IDT Entertainment

In the first quarter of fiscal 2007, we completed the sale of IDT Entertainment to Liberty Media Corporation. We are eligible to receive additional consideration from Liberty Media based upon any appreciation in the value of IDT Entertainment over the five-year period following the closing of the transaction or a shorter period under specified circumstances ("Contingent Value"), equal to 25% of the excess, if any, of the net equity value of IDT Entertainment over \$453 million. However, we would have to pay Liberty Media up to \$3.5 million if the Contingent Value does not exceed \$439 million, which is included in "Other long-term liabilities" in the condensed consolidated balance sheet. Loss on sale of discontinued operations in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2008 of \$0.5 million and \$4.5 million, respectively, included compensation, taxes and the costs of a lawsuit, all of which arose from and were directly related to the operations of IDT Entertainment prior to its disposal.

Investment in American Shale Oil, LLC

AMSO was formed as a wholly-owned subsidiary in February 2008. In April 2008, AMSO acquired a 75% equity interest in American Shale Oil, L.L.C., or AMSO, LLC, in exchange for cash of \$2.5 million and certain commitments for future funding of AMSO, LLC's operations. In a separate transaction in April 2008, we acquired an additional 14.9437% equity interest in AMSO, LLC in exchange for cash of \$3.0 million, bringing the total interest then held by us to approximately 90%.

AMSO, LLC is one of only three holders of leases granted by the U.S. Bureau of Land Management, or BLM, to research, develop and demonstrate in-situ technologies for potential commercial shale oil production, or RD&D Leases, in western Colorado. The other holders consist of Shell Frontier Oil and Gas, Inc. (three leases) and Chevron U.S.A., Inc. The RD&D Lease awarded to AMSO, LLC by the BLM covers an area of 160 acres. The lease runs for a ten year period beginning on January 1, 2007, and is subject to an extension of up to five years if AMSO, LLC can demonstrate that a process leading to the production of commercial quantities of shale oil is diligently being pursued. Once AMSO, LLC demonstrates the economic and environmental viability of its technology, it will have the opportunity to submit a one time payment pursuant to the Oil Shale Management Regulations and convert its RD&D Lease to a commercial lease on 5,120 acres which overlap and are contiguous with the 160 acres in its RD&D Lease.

In March 2009, pursuant to a Member Interest Purchase Agreement entered into on December 19, 2008, TOTAL E&P Research & Technology USA, or Total, a subsidiary of TOTAL E&P SCR/Recherche & Development, acquired a 50% interest in AMSO, LLC in exchange for cash paid to us of \$3.2 million and Total's commitment to fund the majority of AMSO, LLC's capital requirements going forward. We recognized a gain of \$2.6 million in the third quarter of fiscal 2009 in connection with the sale. While AMSO will operate the project during the RD&D phase, Total will provide a majority of the funding during this phase of the project, and technical assistance throughout the life of the project. Total will lead the planning of the commercial development and will assume management responsibilities during the subsequent commercial phase. Total's indirect corporate parent, Total S.A., is the world's fifth largest integrated oil and gas company.

We consolidated AMSO, LLC prior to the closing of the transaction with Total. Beginning with the closing, we account for our 50% ownership interest in AMSO, LLC using the equity method since we have the ability to exercise significant influence over its operating and financial matters, although we no longer control AMSO, LLC. Pursuant to Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Interpretation 46(R), Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, AMSO, LLC is a variable interest entity, however, we are not the primary beneficiary because we will not absorb a majority of the expected losses or receive a majority of the expected residual returns.

AMSO has committed to a total investment of \$10.0 million in AMSO, LLC, subject to certain exceptions where the amount could be greater. We contributed \$0.9 million to AMSO, LLC in the third quarter of fiscal 2009. At April 30,

2009, subject to certain exceptions, our minimum funding commitment as a result of our investment in AMSO, LLC is \$8.3 million.

Telecom Competition

Since our inception, we have derived the majority of our revenues and operating expenses from IDT Telecom's businesses. IDT Telecom's revenues represented 79.3% of our total revenues from continuing operations in the nine months ended April 30, 2009, compared to 84.4% in the nine months ended April 30, 2008.

Table of Contents

In our IDT Telecom businesses, our competitors continue to aggressively price their services. In addition, we discovered that many of our major competitors were significantly overstating the number of minutes to be delivered by their calling cards, and accordingly, on March 8, 2007, we filed a civil anti-fraud action in the federal district court in Newark, New Jersey, claiming that these competitors have been misleading calling card customers, and as a result, negatively impacting our market share resulting in a reduction in our gross revenues and profits. We also believe that there may have been a gradual shift in demand industry-wide away from calling cards and into wireless products, which, among other things, may have further eroded pricing power. The continued growth of the use of wireless services, largely due to lower pricing of such services, may have adversely affected the sales of our prepaid calling cards as customers migrate from using prepaid calling cards to wireless services. We expect pricing of wireless services to continue to decrease, which may result in increased substitution of prepaid calling cards by wireless services and increased pricing pressure on our prepaid calling cards. In our wholesale markets as well, we have generally had to pass along portions of our per-minute cost savings to our customers in the form of lower prices. These trends have impacted our telecom businesses, and as a result, we have generally experienced declines in both our revenues and overall per-minute price realizations. At times, though, we have chosen to raise prices, particularly within our calling card business, in an effort to increase per-minute price realizations, which generally results in a negative impact on minute volumes, thereby reducing revenues. Minutes-of-use in our global calling card business has generally declined each quarter beginning in the third quarter of fiscal 2006, from 4.23 billion in the second quarter of fiscal 2006 to 1.78 billion in the third quarter of fiscal 2009.

We believe that recent immigration trends in the United States may be decreasing our potential customer base. Since immigrants are a target customer base for our prepaid calling card business, their reduced number may have adversely affected our revenues and profitability in that business. If these immigration trends continue or accelerate, our calling card revenues and profitability may continue to be adversely affected.

Our distribution agreement with Union Telecard Alliance, LLC, or UTA, which distributes most of our prepaid calling cards in the United States, expired on April 24, 2009. We are currently distributing prepaid calling cards and other products through UTA on a month-to-month basis.

Critical Accounting Policies

Our condensed consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, or US GAAP. Our significant accounting policies are described in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal 2008. The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses as well as the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Critical accounting policies are those that require application of management's most subjective or complex judgments, often as a result of matters that are inherently uncertain and may change in subsequent periods. Our critical accounting policies include those related to the allowance for doubtful accounts, goodwill, valuation of long-lived and intangible assets, income and other taxes and regulatory agency fees, and contingent liabilities. Management bases its estimates and judgments on historical experience and other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. For additional discussion of our critical accounting policies, see our Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal 2008.

Results of Operations

Three and Nine Months Ended April 30, 2009 Compared to Three and Nine Months Ended April 30, 2008

We evaluate the performance of our operating business segments based primarily on income (loss) from operations. Accordingly, the income and expense line items below income (loss) from operations are only included in our discussion of the consolidated results of operations.

Consolidated

	Tł		nonths ended pril 30, Change				e	Nine mon	Change					
		2009		2008	\$		%	2009	2008	\$		%		
						(in millions)								
Revenues														
IDT Telecom	\$	312.1	\$	361.3	\$	(49.2)	(13.6)%	\$ 998.2	\$ 1,151.0	\$	(152.8)	(13.3)%		
IDT Energy		66.7		66.3		0.4	0.6	227.7	173.4		54.3	31.3		
IDT Capital		10.1		13.1		(3.0)	(22.4)	32.8	39.1		(6.3)	(16.1)		
_														
Total revenues	\$	388.9	\$	440.7	\$	(51.8)	(11.7)%	\$ 1,258.7	\$ 1,363.5	\$	(104.8)	(7.7)%		

Revenues. The decrease in consolidated revenues in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009 compared to the similar periods in fiscal 2008 was primarily due to a decline in IDT Telecom revenues, partially offset in the nine months ended April 30, 2009 compared to the similar period in fiscal 2008 by an increase in IDT Energy revenues. The decrease in IDT Telecom revenues in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009 compared to the similar periods in fiscal 2008 resulted from decreases in the revenues of both of the IDT Telecom segments. Approximately \$19.0 million and \$40.4 million of the decrease in IDT Telecom revenues in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009, respectively, compared to the similar periods in fiscal 2008 was due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates. IDT Telecom minutes of use (excluding minutes of use relating to our Consumer Phone Services segment, as the portion of such minute traffic carried on our network is insignificant) declined 5.2% from 5.556 billion in the three months ended April 30, 2008 to 5.270 billion in the three months ended April 30, 2009, and declined 5.8% from 17.255 billion in the nine months ended April 30, 2009.

Table of Contents

IDT Energy's revenues were basically the same in the three months ended April 30, 2009 and 2008. The increase in IDT Energy revenues in the nine months ended April 30, 2009 compared to the similar period in fiscal 2008 was the result of increases in both electricity and natural gas revenues driven by the significant growth in the customer base of IDT Energy, as well as increases in average electricity rates charged to customers.

The decrease in IDT Capital revenues in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009 compared to the similar periods in fiscal 2008 is primarily due to the disposition of IDT Global Israel, Ltd., our call center operations in Israel, in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, as well as the disposition of an additional business in the first quarter of fiscal 2009. These two businesses generated revenues of \$2.4 million and \$6.9 million in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2008, respectively.

	Three months ended April 30, Change							 ine month pril 30,	s ended	Change		
	20	009 n million		800	\$			%	009	2008	\$	%
Costs and expenses	-											
Direct cost of												
revenues	\$	295.7	\$	350.5	\$	(54.8)		(15.6)%	\$ 963.9	\$ 1,077.6	\$ (113.7)	(10.6)%
Selling, general												
and administrative		74.2		116.8		(42.6)		(36.5)	239.7	346.1	(106.4)	(30.7)
Depreciation and												
amortization		11.9		17.3		(5.4)		(31.4)	38.9	51.7	(12.8)	(24.8)
Bad debt		2.8		3.1		(0.3)		(8.4)	7.6	8.3	(0.7)	(8.4)
Research and												
development		1.5		8.9		(7.4)		(82.6)	7.9	9.8	(1.9)	(19.1)
Impairments		62.1		0.1		62.0		nm	72.8	0.3	72.5	nm
Restructuring												
charges		0.6		16.4		(15.8)		(96.3)	8.4	20.4	(12.0)	(58.7)
Total costs and												
expenses	\$	448.8	\$	513.1	\$	(64.3)		(12.5)%	\$ 1,339.2	\$ 1,514.2	\$ (175.0)	(11.6)%

nm-not meaningful

Direct Cost of Revenues. The decrease in direct cost of revenues in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009 compared to the similar periods in fiscal 2008 was due primarily to the decline in IDT Telecom's direct cost of revenues, partially offset in the nine months ended April 30, 2009 compared to the similar period in fiscal 2008 by an increase in IDT Energy's direct cost of revenues. The decrease in direct cost of revenues in IDT Telecom in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009 compared to the similar periods in fiscal 2008 reflects the decline in IDT Telecom's revenues and continued reductions in connectivity costs. Approximately \$17.7 million and \$37.2 million of the decrease in direct cost of revenues in IDT Telecom in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009, respectively, compared to the similar periods in fiscal 2008 was due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates. The increase in IDT Energy's direct cost of revenues in the nine months ended April 30, 2009 compared to the similar period in fiscal 2008 was primarily due to an increase in natural gas consumption. Overall gross margin increased from 20.5% and 21.0% in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2008, respectively, to 24.0% and 23.4% in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009, respectively, due to increases in gross margins in IDT Energy and IDT Capital, partially offset by lower gross margins in IDT Telecom.

Selling, General and Administrative. The decrease in selling, general and administrative expenses in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009 compared to the similar periods in fiscal 2008 was due to reductions in the selling, general and administrative expenses of IDT Telecom, IDT Capital and corporate, offset by an increase in the selling, general and administrative expenses of IDT Energy. The reduction in IDT Telecom's selling, general and administrative expenses in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009 compared to the similar periods in fiscal 2008 was primarily due to reductions in headcount, changes to employee benefit and bonus programs, reductions in facilities and maintenance costs, as well as reduced advertising and marketing expenses and lower legal and other professional fees. IDT Capital's selling, general and administrative expenses decreased in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009 compared to the similar periods in fiscal 2008 due to the divestiture of many non-profitable businesses during the past year as we continue to focus on our core operations, as well as a decrease in legal fees related to ongoing litigation related to certain of our intellectual property. Corporate general and administrative expenses decreased in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009 compared to the similar periods in fiscal 2008 due to decreases in payroll and related expenses, legal fees and charitable contributions, as well as an accrual of \$10.5 million in April 2008 related to a jury award for an employment matter. IDT Energy's selling, general and administrative expenses increased in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009 compared to the similar periods in fiscal 2008 due primarily to increases in billing related fees. In addition, the increase in selling, general and administrative expenses in the nine months ended April 30, 2009 compared to the similar period in fiscal 2008 was also due to increases in customer acquisition costs and compensation expense. As a percentage of total revenue from continuing operations, selling, general and administrative expenses decreased from 26.5% and 25.4% in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2008, respectively, to 19.1% and 19.0% in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009, respectively, as selling, general and administrative expenses decreased at a faster rate than total revenues.

Table of Contents

Stock-based compensation expense included in selling, general and administrative expenses, primarily relating to the vesting of restricted stock and stock option grants, was \$0.8 million and \$2.7 million in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009, respectively, compared to nil and \$3.2 million in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2008, respectively.

On October 31, 2008, we entered into an Amended and Restated Employment Agreement with Mr. Howard S. Jonas, our Chairman. Pursuant to this Agreement (i) the term of Mr. Jonas' employment with us runs until December 31, 2013 and (ii) Mr. Jonas was granted 1.2 million restricted shares of our Class B common stock and 0.9 million restricted shares of our common stock in lieu of a cash base salary beginning January 1, 2009 through December 31, 2013. The restricted shares vest in different installments throughout the term of Mr. Jonas' employment as delineated in the agreement, and all of the restricted shares paid to Mr. Jonas under the agreement automatically vest in the event of (i) a change in control of the Company; (ii) Mr. Jonas' death; or (iii) if Mr. Jonas is terminated without cause or if he terminates his employment for good reason as defined in the agreement. A pro rata portion of the restricted shares will vest in the event of termination for cause. The restricted shares were granted on October 31, 2008 pursuant to our 2005 Stock Option and Incentive Plan. Total unrecognized compensation cost on the grant date was \$5.5 million. The unrecognized compensation cost is expected to be recognized over the vesting period from January 1, 2009 through December 31, 2013. We recognized \$0.2 million and \$0.3 million of the compensation cost in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009, respectively related to this agreement.

On November 5, 2008, we and Mr. James A. Courter, our Vice Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, entered into an amendment to Mr. Courter's employment agreement. Pursuant to the amendment, Mr. Courter was granted 0.4 million restricted shares of Class B common stock in lieu of a cash base salary from January 1, 2009 until October 21, 2009. The restricted shares are scheduled to vest on October 21, 2009, the last day of the term under the amended employment agreement. Pursuant to the amendment, all of the restricted shares paid to Mr. Courter under the amendment automatically vest in the event of (i) a change in control of the Company; (ii) Mr. Courter's death; or (iii) if Mr. Courter is terminated without cause or if he terminates his employment for good reason as defined by the amendment. A pro rata portion of the restricted shares will vest in the event of termination for cause. The restricted shares were granted on November 5, 2008 pursuant to our 2005 Stock Option and Incentive Plan. Total unrecognized compensation cost on the grant date was \$0.8 million. The unrecognized compensation cost is expected to be recognized from January 1, 2009 through October 21, 2009. We recognized \$0.2 million and \$0.3 million of the compensation cost in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009, respectively related to this agreement.

Depreciation and Amortization. The decrease in depreciation and amortization expense in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009 compared to the similar periods in fiscal 2008 was primarily due to IDT Telecom property, plant and equipment becoming fully depreciated and a decrease in capital expenditures.

Bad Debt Expense. Bad debt expense decreased in the three months ended April 30, 2009 compared to the similar period in fiscal 2008 due to a decrease in IDT Telecom's bad debt expense. Bad debt expense decreased in the nine months ended April 30, 2009 compared to the similar period in fiscal 2008 due to a decrease in IDT Telecom's bad debt expense, partially offset by an increase in IDT Energy's bad debt expense. The decrease in IDT Telecom's bad debt expense in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009 as compared to the comparable periods in fiscal 2008 was primarily due to the decrease in revenues in our Consumer Phones Services segment and due to evaluations of its outstanding receivables that resulted in adjustments to provisions. The increase in IDT Energy's bad debt expense in the nine months ended April 30, 2009 as compared to the comparable period in fiscal 2008 was due primarily to the increase in revenues and the resulting increase in the allowance for receivables that were not guaranteed under purchase of receivables, or POR, programs.

Research and Development. Research and development expenses in three and nine months ended April 30, 2009 and 2008 consist of the following:

Edgar Filing: AMICUS THERAPEUTICS INC - Form SC 13G/A

	Three mor Apri 2009	 	llioı	Nine months April 30 2009 ns)		
Telecom Platform Services Segment:						
Fabrix T.V., Ltd.	\$ 0.8	\$ 2.6	\$	2.4	\$	3.6
IDT Capital:						
Alternative Energy:						
AMSO	0.1	6.0		3.2		6.0
Israel Energy Initiatives, Ltd.	0.6	0.2		2.4		0.2
Total research and development expenses	\$ 1.5	\$ 8.8	\$	8.0	\$	9.8
27						

Table of Contents

Fabrix T.V., Ltd. is our majority-owned venture developing a video content delivery and storage platform. Alternative Energy includes (1) AMSO, which commenced its research and development activities in the third quarter of fiscal 2008 upon its acquisition of AMSO, LLC, which is one of three holders of 10-year leases granted by the U.S. Bureau of Land Management to research, develop and demonstrate in-situ technologies for potential commercial shale oil production in western Colorado, and (2) IEI, our Israeli alternative energy venture, which was granted a license in Israel in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008 to explore certain public lands for potential production of shale oil. In April 2008, we acquired equity interests of approximately 90% in AMSO, LLC primarily in exchange for cash of \$5.5 million in transactions accounted for under the purchase method of accounting. We charged an aggregate of \$5.5 million to research and development expense at the acquisition date, which includes amounts assigned to AMSO, LLC's tangible and intangible assets to be used in its research and development project that have no alternative future use. In March 2009, Total acquired a 50% interest in AMSO, LLC in exchange for cash paid to us of \$3.2 million and Total's commitment to fund the majority of AMSO, LLC's capital requirements going forward. We no longer consolidate AMSO, LLC as of the closing of the transaction with Total, instead, we account for our 50% ownership interest in AMSO, LLC using the equity method.

Impairments. Impairments in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009 and 2008 consist of the following:

	Three months April 30		Nine mon		ed
	2009	200	38		
		(in millio	ns)		
Goodwill:					
Telecom Platform Services – Rechargeable reporting unit.	\$ 29.0 \$	— \$	29.0	\$	_
IDT Capital – CTM Media Group	29.7		29.7		
IDT Capital – WMET	1.2	_	1.2		_
IDT Capital – IDW Publishing	_		1.8		
Total goodwill	59.9		61.7		
FCC licenses	_	_	5.3		_
Other assets	2.3	0.1	5.8		0.3
Total impairments	\$ 62.2 \$	0.1 \$	72.8	\$	0.3
·					

In the second quarter of fiscal 2009, the following events and circumstances indicated that the fair value of certain of our reporting units may be below their carrying value: (1) a significant adverse change in the business climate, (2) operating losses of reporting units, (3) significant revisions to internal forecasts, and (4) plans to restructure operations including reductions in workforce. We measured the fair value of our reporting units by discounting their estimated future cash flows using an appropriate discount rate. The carrying value including goodwill exceeded the estimated fair value of the following reporting units: Rechargeable, CTM Media Group, WMET and IDW Publishing. We therefore performed additional steps for these reporting units to determine whether an impairment of goodwill was required. As a result of this analysis, in the nine months ended April 30, 2009, we recorded aggregate preliminary goodwill impairment of \$61.7 million, which is subject to adjustment. The preliminary goodwill impairment reduced the carrying amount of the goodwill in each of these reporting units to zero. We recorded the preliminary amounts because it was probable that goodwill was impaired, and the amount of impairment could be reasonably estimated. On April 30, 2009, our remaining goodwill was \$12.4 million. Calculating the fair value of the reporting units, and allocating the estimated fair value to all of the tangible assets, intangible assets and liabilities, requires significant estimates and assumptions. Should these estimates or assumptions prove to be incorrect, we may record additional goodwill impairment or adjust our preliminary impairment in future periods.

IDT Spectrum, which is a unit of IDT Capital, recorded impairment in the second quarter of fiscal 2009 of \$5.3 million, which reduced the carrying value of its FCC licenses to zero. The events and circumstances in the second quarter of fiscal 2009 described above indicated that the FCC licenses may be impaired. We estimated that these FCC licenses had nominal value based on continuing operating losses and projected losses for the foreseeable future.

We recorded an impairment of \$3.5 million in the second quarter of fiscal 2009 which reduced the carrying value of IDT Global Israel's building in Israel. We retained exclusive control over the sale of this building after we disposed of 80% of the issued and outstanding shares of IDT Global Israel in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008. Once the building is sold, we will receive the net proceeds of the sale after the repayment of the obligations secured by the building. At April 30, 2009, the revised estimated sales price of the building net of costs to sell of \$12.7 million was included in "Other current assets" and the mortgage balance of \$6.0 million was included in "Other current liabilities".

As a result of our conclusion that an interim impairment test of goodwill was required during the second quarter of fiscal 2009, we also assessed the recoverability of certain of our long-lived assets in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets. The assessment of long-lived assets was based on projected undiscounted future cash flows of the long-lived asset groups compared to their carrying values. Our cash flow estimates were derived from our annual planning process and interim forecasting. We believe that our procedures for projecting future cash flows are reasonable and consistent with market conditions at the time of estimation. As a result of our assessment under SFAS 144, as of April 30, 2009, we recorded aggregate impairments of \$2.3 million related to certain leasehold interests.

Table of Contents

Restructuring Charges. The restructuring charges in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009 and 2008 consisted primarily of severance related to a company-wide cost savings program and reduction in force. As of April 30, 2009, these programs resulted in the termination of approximately 1,420 employees since the third quarter of fiscal 2006. As of April 30, 2009, we had a total of approximately 1,480 employees, of which approximately 1,060 are located in the United States and approximately 420 are located at our international operations. The restructuring charges in the nine months ended April 30, 2009 also included costs for the shutdown or consolidation of certain facilities of \$0.7 million in Corporate and \$0.8 million in IDT Telecom. In the first quarter of fiscal 2009, IDT Telecom reversed accrued severance of \$2.6 million as a result of modifications to retention and/or severance agreements with certain employees. In the first quarter of fiscal 2008, IDT Spectrum reversed \$0.4 million of restructuring charges recorded in fiscal 2006 for a contract termination.

The following table summarizes the changes in the reserve balances related to our restructuring activities (substantially all of which relates to workforce reductions):

	Jul	ance at y 31, 008	Charged to Expense (in m	Payments illions)	Balance at April 30, 2009
IDT Telecom	\$	10.9	\$ 4.2		\$ 3.6
IDT Energy		_			
IDT Capital		0.5	1.6	(2.1)	
Corporate		7.1	2.6	(5.5)	4.2
Total	\$	18.5	\$ 8.4	\$ (19.1)	\$ 7.8

Gain on sale of interest in AMSO, LLC. In March 2009, Total acquired a 50% interest in AMSO, LLC in exchange for cash paid to us of \$3.2 million and Total's commitment to fund the majority of AMSO, LLC's capital requirements going forward. We recognized a gain of \$2.6 million in the three months ended April 30, 2009 in connection with the sale, which is included in loss from operations.

Arbitration Award Income. In November 2007, our Net2Phone Cable Telephony subsidiary, which is included in our Telecom Platform Services segment, was awarded approximately €23 million, plus interest from November 2005, in an arbitration proceeding against Altice One S.A. and certain of its affiliates. The arbitration proceeding related to Altice's termination of cable telephony license agreements Net2Phone Cable Telephony had entered into in November 2004. We recorded a gain of \$40.0 million for this arbitration award, including accrued interest, in the first quarter of fiscal 2008, which is included in loss from operations.

	Three mon	ths ended				Nine mon	ths	ended			
	Apri	1 30,	Change			April	30	,		Char	nge
	2009	2008	\$	%	% 2009			2008 \$			%
			(in millions)								
Loss from											
operations	\$ (57.3)	\$ (72.4)	\$ 15.1	20.9%	\$	(77.8)	\$	(110.7)	\$	32.9	29.7%
Interest (expense)											
income, net	(2.1)	(0.3)	(1.8)	(599.7)		(4.8)		5.3		(10.1)	(190.4)
Other income											
(expense), net	1.1	(8.3)	9.4	113.7		(30.6)		(9.6)		(21.0)	(218.0)
Minority interests	(0.8)	(0.4)	(0.4)	(159.3)		_	-	(1.0)		1.0	96.3

Edgar Filing: AMICUS THERAPEUTICS INC - Form SC 13G/A

Provision for									
income taxes	(1.3)	(2.2)	0.9	38.7	(10.6)	(8.7)	(1.9)		(20.7)
Loss from									
continuing									
operations	(60.4)	(83.6)	23.2	27.7	(123.8)	(124.7)	0.9		0.7
(Loss) income									
from discontinued									
operations	(3.0)	1.4	(4.4)	(323.6)	(38.9)	(13.2)	(25.7)	(195.1)
Net loss	\$ (63.4)	\$ (82.2)	\$ 18.8	22.8%	\$ (162.7)	\$ (137.9)	\$ (24.8)		(18.0)%

Interest (Expense) Income, Net. The decrease in net interest in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009 compared to the similar periods in fiscal 2008 was primarily due to a decrease in interest income as a result of lower interest bearing cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities balances and lower yields on our interest bearing securities.

Table of Contents

Other Income (Expense), Net. Other income (expense), net in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009 and 2008 consists of the following:

	Th	nree months of April 30,	Nine months ended April 30,		
	20	009	2008	2009	2008
			(in million	ns)	
Realized gains (losses) on marketable securities	\$	—\$	0.4 \$	(1.9) \$	(10.7)
Other than temporary decline in value of marketable					
securities		(0.1)	(7.5)	(6.8)	(7.5)
Gain on sale of subsidiary stock		_	_	0.3	_
(Losses) on investments		(0.2)	(2.1)	(21.7)	(1.3)
Equity in net loss of AMSO, LLC		(0.2)	_	(0.2)	_
Foreign currency transaction gains		1.2	1.0	2.4	5.4
Gain on sale of building		_	_	_	4.1
Other		0.4	(0.1)	(2.7)	0.4
Total other income (expense), net	\$	1.1 \$	(8.3) \$	(30.6) \$	(9.6)

In the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009, other income (expense), net included other than temporary decline in value of \$0.1 million and \$6.8 million, respectively, related to auction rate securities. On September 23, 2008, we sold a 10% ownership interest in Zedge to Shaman II, L.P. for cash of \$1.0 million. One of the limited partners in Shaman II, L.P. was a former employee of ours. We record the effect of changes in our ownership interest resulting from the issuance of equity by one of our subsidiaries in the condensed consolidated statement of operations. Accordingly, in the nine months ended April 30, 2009, we recorded a gain of \$0.3 million on the sale of Zedge stock. In the three and nine months ended April 30, 2008, other income (expense), net included other than temporary decline in value of certain equity securities of \$7.5 million. In the nine months ended April 30, 2008, other income (expense), net included a \$4.1 million gain on the sale of a building in Newark, New Jersey.

Minority Interests. Minority interests arise mostly from the 49% minority owners of UTA, our calling card distributor in the United States, from the minority owner of our real estate business and from the 46.67% minority owners of IDW Publishing. The change in minority interests in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009 compared to the similar periods in fiscal 2008 was primarily due to the change in the minority interests related to UTA and IDW Publishing.

Income Taxes. Income tax expense decreased in the three months ended April 30, 2009 compared to the similar period in fiscal 2008 due primarily to decreases in federal and foreign income tax expense, partially offset by an increase in our state and local income tax expense. Income tax expense increased in the nine months ended April 30, 2009 compared to the similar period in fiscal 2008 due primarily to increases in state and local and foreign income tax expense, partially offset by a decrease in our federal income tax expense. State and local income taxes increased as a result of the increase in IDT Energy's profits. Our foreign income tax expense results from income generated by our foreign subsidiaries that cannot be offset against losses generated in the United States. Our federal income tax expense included interest of \$0.5 million and \$4.5 million in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009, respectively, compared to \$2.3 million and \$7.0 million in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2008, respectively.

As a result of an IRS audit of our federal tax returns for fiscal years 2001, 2002, 2003 and 2004, we owed approximately \$75 million in taxes for fiscal 2001, approximately \$1 million for adjustments carried forward to fiscal 2005 and 2006, and \$39.5 million in interest. In connection therewith, we paid \$80.0 million of the amount owed

between July 2008 and January 2009. On January 27, 2009, we entered into a modified installment agreement with the IRS, whereby we agreed to pay the remaining amounts owed to the IRS for fiscal years 2001 - 2004 by June 2009. During the third quarter of fiscal 2009, we paid \$25.0 million to the IRS on our outstanding balance. By June 15, 2009, we will have paid an additional \$13.4 million to fully satisfy our obligation under the modified agreement. The final payment may be reduced if the IRS waives the penalties. In December 2008, the IRS commenced an audit of our federal tax returns for fiscal years 2005, 2006 and 2007. In May 2009, the IRS assessed a liability of \$1.2 million for fiscal year 2005 which represents the approximately \$1 million previously agreed to plus interest.

IDT Telecom—Telecom Platform Services and Consumer Phone Services Segments

IDT Telecom operates two business segments: Telecom Platform Services and Consumer Phone Services. Beginning in the second quarter of fiscal 2009, the Prepaid Products segment and the Wholesale Telecommunications Services segment were combined into the Telecom Platform Services segment, and consumer phone services outside the United States were transferred from the Consumer Phone Services segment to Telecom Platform Services. The changes in the second quarter of fiscal 2009 reflect the overlap in the methods used to provide consumer phone services outside the United States, prepaid products and wholesale telecommunications services, as well as the way the operating results are reported and reviewed by our chief operating decision maker. To the extent possible, comparative historical results have been reclassified and restated as if the fiscal 2009 business segment structure existed in all periods presented, although these results may not be indicative of the results which would have been achieved had the business segment structure been in effect during those periods.

Table of Contents

	Three months ended April 30,				Change				Nine months ended April 30,					Change	
		2009		2008	\$			%		2009		2008	\$		%
						(in millio	ns,	except re	eve	evenue per minute)					
Revenues															
Telecom Platform	Φ.	200.6	Φ.	2.42.4	ф	(42.0)		(10.5) %	Φ.	0561	ф	1 007 0	ф	(101.0)	(10.1) 64
Services	\$	299.6	\$	342.4	\$	(42.8)		(12.5)%	\$	956.1	\$	1,087.3	\$	(131.2)	(12.1)%
Consumer Phone		10.5		10.0		(6.4)		(22.7)		10.1		60.7		(21.6)	(22.0)
Services		12.5		18.9		(6.4)		(33.7)		42.1		63.7		(21.6)	(33.8)
T-4-1	ф	212.1	Φ	261.2	ф	(40.2)		(12.6)6/	Φ	000.2	Φ	1 151 0	Φ	(150.0)	(12.2)07
Total revenues	\$	312.1	\$	361.3	\$	(49.2)		(13.6)%	Þ	998.2	Þ	1,151.0	\$	(152.8)	(13.3)%
Minutes of use															
		1 790		2.029		(250)		(12.7)%		5 710		6 502		(992)	(12 1)0/-
Retail calling cards Wholesale carrier		1,780		2,038		(258)		(12.7)%		5,710		6,593 10,662		(883)	(13.4)%
wholesale carrier		3,490		3,518		(28)		(0.8)		10,537		10,002		(125)	(1.2)
Total minutes of use		5,270		5,556		(286)		(5.2)%		16,247		17,255		(1, 008)	(5.8)%
Total lilliutes of use		3,270		3,330		(200)		(3.2) /0		10,247		17,233		(1,008)	(3.8) 70
Average revenue per															
minute															
Retail calling cards	\$	0.0777	\$	0.0838	\$	(0.0061)		(7.3)%	\$	0.0809	\$	0.0848	\$	(0.0039)	(4.6)%
Wholesale carrier	т.	0.0419	-	0.0448		(0.0029)		(6.3)	-	0.0429	т.	0.0456	т	(0.0027)	(6.0)
						(*****)		(5.5)						(*****	(0.0)
Total average revenue															
per minute	\$	0.0540	\$	0.0591	\$	(0.0051)		(8.6)%	\$	0.0562	\$	0.0606	\$	(0.0044)	(7.2)%
per minute	Ψ	0.00.10	Ψ	0.0071	Ψ	(0.0021)		(0.0) 10	Ψ	0.0002	Ψ	3.0000	Ψ	(3.0011)	(7.2)70

Revenues. We experienced revenue declines in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009 compared to the similar periods in fiscal 2008 in both of the IDT Telecom segments. Approximately \$19.0 million and \$40.4 million of the decrease in IDT Telecom revenues in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009, respectively, compared to the similar periods in fiscal 2008 was due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates. The IDT Telecom revenue declines in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009 compared to the similar periods in fiscal 2008 primarily occurred in the United States, as IDT Telecom's international operations in the aggregate experienced increased revenues in local currencies. As a percentage of IDT Telecom's total revenues, Telecom Platform Services revenues increased from 94.5% in the nine months ended April 30, 2008 to 95.8% in the nine months ended April 30, 2009, and Consumer Phone Services revenues decreased from 5.5% in the nine months ended April 30, 2008 to 4.2% in the nine months ended April 30, 2009.

Total minutes of use for Telecom Platform Services declined by 5.2% and 5.8% in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009, respectively, compared to the similar periods in fiscal 2008. Minutes of use relating to our Consumer Phone Services segment is not tracked as a meaningful business metric as the domestic traffic generated by this segment is not carried on our network, and the international traffic generated by this segment, though carried on our own network, is relatively insignificant. Within Telecom Platform Services, minutes of use relating to wholesale carrier activities decreased 0.8% and 1.2% in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009, respectively, compared to the similar periods in fiscal 2008 as the overall economy softened and we focused on generating traffic from higher margin destinations. Minutes of use from our retail activities declined 12.7% and 13.4% in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009, respectively, compared to the similar periods in fiscal 2008 primarily due to continued weakness in our calling card businesses in the United States, Europe, and South America, partially offset by an

increase in our retail business in Asia. The decline in calling card minutes of use arose as a result of lower calling card sales stemming from competitive pressures and economic softness, as well as due to our decision to reduce discount pricing on our newly introduced calling cards. In addition, we believe that there may be a gradual shift in demand industry-wide away from calling cards and into wireless products.

Average revenue per minute is the average price realization we recognize on the minutes we sell within our Telecom Platform Services segment. Average revenue per minute declined 8.6% and 7.2% in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009, respectively, compared to the similar periods in fiscal 2008. More specifically, in our retail calling card businesses, average revenue per minute declined 7.3% and 4.6% in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009, respectively, compared to the similar periods in fiscal 2008 as a result of decreases in the average revenue per minute for all our regions. In our wholesale carrier business, average revenue per minute decreased 6.3% and 6.0% in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009, respectively, compared to the similar periods in fiscal 2008, due primarily to continued aggressive competition.

Telecom Platform Services revenues declined 12.5% and 12.1% in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009, respectively, compared to the similar periods in fiscal 2008, primarily due to lower minutes of use worldwide, lower per minute price realizations and the negative effect from currency translation.

Consumer Phone Services revenues declined 33.7% and 33.8% in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009, respectively, compared to the similar periods in fiscal 2008, as we continue to fully harvest the business. This strategy has been in effect since calendar 2005, when the FCC decided to terminate the UNE-P pricing regime, which resulted in significantly inferior economics for this business. The customer base for our bundled, unlimited local and long distance services business was approximately 32,300 as of April 30, 2009 compared to 54,200 as of April 30, 2008. We currently offer local service in the following 11 states: New York, New Jersey, Pennsylvania, Maryland, Delaware, Massachusetts, New Hampshire, West Virginia, Maine, Rhode Island and California. In addition, the customer base for our long distance-only services was approximately 108,200 as of April 30, 2009 compared to 141,800 as of April 30, 2008.

Table of Contents

	T	hree mor	nths	ended		Nine months ended								
	April 30,			Change			April 30,					Change		
		2009		2008	\$		%		2009		2008	\$		%
						(in milli	ons, except	co	st per mi	nute	:)			
Direct cost of revenues														
Telecom Platform														
Services	\$	239.8	\$	276.3	\$	(36.5)	(13.2)%	\$	770.0	\$	871.5	\$	(101.5)	(11.6)%
Consumer Phone														
Services		5.9		6.1		(0.2)	(4.0)		18.0		28.3		(10.3)	(36.6)
Total direct cost														
of revenues	\$	245.7	\$	282.4	\$	(36.7)	(13.0)%	\$	788.0	\$	899.8	\$	(111.8)	(12.4)%
Average														
termination cost														
per minute														
Retail calling														
cards	\$	0.0613	\$	0.0666	\$	(0.0053)	(7.9)%	\$	0.0644	\$	0.0668	\$	(0.0024)	(3.6)%
Wholesale carrier		0.0371		0.0389		(0.0018)	(4.7)		0.0377		0.0392		(0.0015)	(3.9)
Total average														
termination cost														
per minute	\$	0.0452	\$	0.0490	\$	(0.0038)	(7.7)%	\$	0.0470	\$	0.0497	\$	(0.0027)	(5.3)%

Direct Cost of Revenues. Direct cost of revenues of IDT Telecom decreased in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009 compared to the similar periods in fiscal 2008 primarily as a result of the decline in minutes of use volume, a lower average termination cost per minute and a declining customer base in our Consumer Phone Services segment. Our average termination cost per minute represents the average direct cost for minutes purchased in order to terminate calls in our Telecom Platform Services segment. Approximately \$17.7 million and \$37.2 million of the decrease in IDT Telecom's direct cost of revenues in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009, respectively, compared to the similar periods in fiscal 2008 was due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates. In addition, Telecom Platform Services direct cost of revenues decreased due to continued reductions in connectivity costs as we continue to reduce excess capacity in our network. In May 2009, we completed the migration of our network from dedicated capacity time-division multiplexing (TDM) circuits to burstable Internet protocol circuits, which utilize connectivity capacity more efficiently and results in lower overall cost. In addition to the connectivity savings, the decrease in Telecom Platform Services direct cost of revenues in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009 compared to the similar periods in fiscal 2008 was due to lower minutes of use and a lower termination cost per minute. Direct cost of revenues for Consumer Phone Services decreased in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009 compared to the similar periods in fiscal 2008, due primarily to lower revenues stemming from the lower customer count. The decrease in direct cost of revenues for Consumer Phone Services would have been greater if not for the favorable settlement in the third quarter of fiscal 2008 of a long-standing dispute with one our connectivity suppliers which reduced the direct cost of revenues in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2008.

Three mor	nths ended		Nine months ended							
Apri	il 30,		April 30,							
2009	2008	Change	2009	2008	Change					

Edgar Filing: AMICUS THERAPEUTICS INC - Form SC 13G/A

Gross margin percentage						
Telecom Platform Services	19.9%	19.3%	0.6%	19.5%	19.9%	(0.4)%
Consumer Phone Services	53.2	67.7	(14.5)	57.4	55.5	1.9
Total gross margin percentage	21.3%	21.9%	(0.6)%	21.1%	21.8%	(0.7)%

Gross Margins. Gross margins in our Telecom Platform Services segment increased in the three months ended April 30, 2009 compared to the similar period in fiscal 2008, primarily due to the decrease in direct cost of revenues described above which exceeded the decrease in revenues. Gross margins in our Telecom Platform Services segment decreased in the nine months ended April 30, 2009 compared to the similar period in fiscal 2008, primarily due to lower profit per minute derived from our U.S. prepaid calling card and our wholesale carrier businesses, partially offset by a higher profit per minute on our calling card sales in other regions.

Gross margins in our Consumer Phone Services segment decreased in the three months ended April 30, 2009 compared to the similar period in fiscal 2008 primarily as a result of the favorable settlement in the third quarter of fiscal 2008 of a long-standing dispute with one our connectivity suppliers which reduced the direct cost of revenues in the three months ended April 30, 2008. Gross margins in our Consumer Phone Services segment increased in the nine months ended April 30, 2009 compared to the similar period in fiscal 2008 due to the reversal in the second quarter of fiscal 2009 of certain costs that were previously accrued, as well as due to a change in our customer mix towards higher margin long distance-only customers, which have been churning at a much slower rate than our bundled, unlimited local and long distance customers, and as a result of certain price increases that we implemented beginning in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008.

Table of Contents

	Th	ree mor Apri			Change	;	N	Vine mor Apri	 	Change	e
	2	2009	2	2008	\$	%		2009	2008	\$	%
						(in mil	lior	ns)			
Selling, general and											
administrative											
expenses											
Telecom Platform											
Services	\$	50.5	\$	71.6	\$ (21.1)	(29.5)%	\$	161.8	\$ 215.6	\$ (53.8)	(25.0)%
Consumer Phone											
Services		2.7		2.9	(0.2)	(8.3)		8.8	11.3	(2.5)	(21.7)
Total selling, general and administrative											
expenses	\$	53.2	\$	74.5	\$ (21.3)	(28.7)%	\$	170.6	\$ 226.9	\$ (56.3)	(24.8)%

Selling, General and Administrative. The decrease in selling, general and administrative expenses in IDT Telecom in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009 compared to the similar periods in fiscal 2008 was primarily due to reductions in headcount, changes to employee benefit and bonus programs, reductions in facilities and maintenance costs, as well as reduced advertising and marketing expenses and lower legal and other professional fees. Compensation and benefit costs for the nine months ended April 30, 2009 included one-time reductions of \$1.4 million related to the 401(k) plan employer matching contributions and a refund of New Jersey unemployment taxes. Compensation and benefit costs run rates are expected to decline further as a result of the headcount reductions and other initiatives achieved through April 30, 2009. As a percentage of IDT Telecom's total revenues, selling, general and administrative expenses decreased from 20.6% and 19.7% in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009, respectively, as IDT Telecom's selling, general and administrative expenses decreased at a faster rate than its revenues.

	Thr	ee mo		ended	Change		Nin	e mon Apri	 ended),	Change	e
	20	009	2	2008	\$	% (in millio	20 ons)	09	2008	\$	%
Bad debt expense						`	Í				
Telecom Platform											
Services	\$	2.1	\$	2.2	\$ (0.1)	(5.0)%	\$	6.3	\$ 4.3	\$ 2.0	46.3%
Consumer Phone											
Services		0.4		0.5	(0.1)	(29.3)		(0.4)	2.8	(3.2)	(114.7)
Total bad debt											
expense	\$	2.5	\$	2.7	\$ (0.2)	(9.4)%	\$	5.9	\$ 7.1	\$ (1.2)	(17.8)%

Bad Debt Expense. Bad debt expense in our Telecom Platform Services segment was basically the same in the three months ended April 30, 2009 and 2008. The increase in bad debt expense in our Telecom Platform Services segment in the nine months ended April 30, 2009 compared to the similar period in fiscal 2008 was the result of an increase in our provisions due to concerns about the liquidity of certain of our distributors and customers. The decrease in bad debt expense in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009 compared to the similar periods in fiscals 2008 in our Consumer Phone Services segment was primarily due to the decrease in revenues and due to evaluations of the

outstanding receivables in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009 that resulted in adjustments to our provisions.

	Thr	ree mon April	••••	ended		Change		Nir	ne mon April		nded		Change	:
	20	009	20	800	\$	_	% (in mill)09 ⁻)	20	800	\$	_	%
Research and														
development expenses														
Telecom Platform														
Services	\$	0.8	\$	2.6	\$	(1.8)	(69.8)%	\$	2.4	\$	3.6	\$	(1.2)	(33.4)%
Consumer Phone														
Services				_	_						_	-		
Total research and														
development expenses	\$	0.8	\$	2.6	\$	(1.8)	(69.8)%	\$	2.4	\$	3.6	\$	(1.2)	(33.4)%
•														

Research and Development. Research and development expenses in our Telecom Platform Services segment in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009 and 2008 were related to Fabrix T.V., Ltd., our majority-owned venture developing a video content delivery and storage platform.

		ree mont April 009		Char	nge	% (in mi	2	ine mon April 009 s)	30,	008	\$	Char	nge	%
Impairments														
Telecom Platform														
Services	\$	29.0	\$ — \$	29.0	nm		\$	29.1	\$	0.2	\$	28.9	nm	
Consumer Phone														
Services		_	_	_	-	_		_	-	_	-	_		_
Total														
impairments	\$	29.0	\$ — \$	29.0	nm		\$	29.1	\$	0.2	\$	28.9	nm	
nm—not meaning	ful													
33														

Table of Contents

Impairments. In the second quarter of fiscal 2009, certain events and circumstances indicated that the fair value of IDT Telecom's reporting units may be below their carrying value. We measured the fair value of our reporting units by discounting their estimated future cash flows using an appropriate discount rate. The carrying value including goodwill of IDT Telecom's Rechargeable reporting unit exceeded its estimated fair value, therefore we performed additional steps to determine whether an impairment of goodwill was required. As a result of this analysis, in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009, we recorded preliminary goodwill impairment of \$29.0 million, which is subject to adjustment. The preliminary goodwill impairment reduced the carrying amount of Rechargeable's goodwill to zero. We recorded the preliminary amount because it was probable that goodwill was impaired, and the amount of impairment could be reasonably estimated. On April 30, 2009, IDT Telecom's remaining goodwill was \$5.5 million. Calculating the fair value of the reporting units requires significant estimates and assumptions. Should these estimates or assumptions prove to be incorrect, we may record additional goodwill impairment or adjust our preliminary impairment in future periods.

	Thi	ree mo	nths	s ended			Nir	ne mon	iths	ended		
		Apr	i1 30),	Chang	e		Apri	130	0,	Chang	ge
	2	009		2008	\$	% (in milli		009		2008	\$ _	%
Restructuring charges												
Telecom Platform												
Services	\$	0.3	\$	11.4	\$ (11.1)	(97.4)%	\$	4.2	\$	13.4	\$ (9.2)	(68.8)%
Consumer Phone												
Services		_	_	0.5	(0.5)	(100.0)		_	_	0.5	(0.5)	(100.0)
Total restructuring												
charges	\$	0.3	\$	11.9	\$ (11.6)	(97.5)%	\$	4.2	\$	13.9	\$ (9.7)	(70.0)%

Restructuring Charges. The restructuring charges in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009 and 2008 consisted primarily of severance related to a company-wide cost savings program and reduction in force. The restructuring charges in the nine months ended April 30, 2009 also included costs for the shutdown or consolidation of certain facilities of \$0.8 million, and are net of the reversal of accrued severance of \$2.6 million in the first quarter of fiscal 2009 as a result of modifications to retention and/or severance agreements with certain employees.

	Th	ree moi	nths	ended			N	ine mon	ths 6	ended		
		Apri	130,	,	Change	e		Apri	1 30	,	Change	e
	2	2009	2	2008	\$	%	2	2009	2	2008	\$	%
						(in mil	lion	s)				
Depreciation and amortization												
Telecom Platform												
Services	\$	10.0	\$	13.6	\$ (3.6)	(26.3)%	\$	32.1	\$	42.1	\$ (10.0)	(23.8)%
Consumer Phone												
Services		0.1		0.7	(0.6)	(93.0)		0.4		2.2	(1.8)	(80.3)
Total depreciation and amortization	\$	10.1	\$	14.3	\$ (4.2)	(29.6)%	\$	32.5	\$	44.3	\$ (11.8)	(26.6)%

Depreciation and Amortization. The decrease in depreciation and amortization expense in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009 compared to the similar periods in fiscal 2008 was primarily due to property, plant and equipment becoming fully depreciated and a decrease in capital expenditures.

Arbitration Award Income. In November 2007, our Net2Phone Cable Telephony subsidiary, which is included in our Telecom Platform Services segment, was awarded approximately €23 million, plus interest from November 2005, in an arbitration proceeding against Altice One S.A. and certain of its affiliates. The arbitration proceeding related to Altice's termination of cable telephony license agreements Net2Phone Cable Telephony had entered into in November 2004. We recorded a gain of \$40.0 million for this arbitration award, including accrued interest, in the three months ended October 31, 2007, which is included in loss from operations in the nine months ended April 30, 2008.

	T	hree mor Apri		Chang	e	N	line mon Apri	 	Chai	nge
		2009	2008	\$	% (in mil		2009 ns)	2008	\$	%
(Loss) income from operations										
Telecom Platform										
Services	\$	(33.0)	\$ (35.4)	\$ 2.4	6.9%	\$	(49.6)	\$ (23.4)	\$ (26.2)	(111.7)%
Consumer Phone										
Services		3.6	8.2	(4.6)	(56.2)		15.3	18.4	(3.1)	(17.0)
Total (loss) income										
from operations	\$	(29.4)	\$ (27.2)	\$ (2.2)	(8.0)%	\$	(34.3)	\$ (5.0)	\$ (29.3)	(588.6)%
34										

Table of Contents

IDT Energy Segment

	Th	ree moi Apri				Char	ıge	N	Nine mon April			Chan	ıge
	2	2009	2	2008	\$		%		2009	2	2008	\$	%
							(in mil	lior	ns)				
Revenues	\$	66.7	\$	66.3	\$	0.4	0.6%	\$	227.7	\$	173.4	\$ 54.3	31.3%
Direct cost of													
revenues		46.9		59.9		(13.0)	(21.7)		164.9		154.8	10.1	6.5
Selling, general and													
administrative		6.9		5.3		1.6	29.5		21.4		13.7	7.7	56.2
Bad debt expense		0.1		0.2		(0.1)	(82.7)		1.0		0.3	0.7	207.1
Restructuring charges		_	-	_	_						0.1	(0.1)	(83.3)
Income from													
operations	\$	12.8	\$	0.9	\$	11.9	nm	\$	40.4	\$	4.5	\$ 35.9	805.2%

nm—not meaningful

Revenues. IDT Energy's revenues consisted of electricity sales of \$30.3 million and \$125.0 million in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009, respectively, compared to \$29.9 million and \$94.1 million in the same periods in fiscal 2008, and natural gas sales of \$36.4 million and \$102.7 million in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009, respectively, compared to \$36.4 million and \$79.3 million in the same periods in fiscal 2008. IDT Energy's revenues are impacted by, among other things, the weather and the seasons, with natural gas revenues typically increasing in the second and third fiscal quarters due to increased gas heat use, and electricity revenues typically increasing in the fourth and first fiscal quarters due to increased air conditioning use.

We experienced higher electricity revenues in the three months ended April 30, 2009 compared to the same period in fiscal 2008 primarily as a result of increased electricity consumption by our larger customer base as well as an increase in electricity consumption per meter, although average electricity rates charged to customers declined. We experienced higher electricity revenues in the nine months ended April 30, 2009 compared to the same period in fiscal 2008 primarily as a result of increased electricity consumption by our larger customer base, an increase in electricity consumption per meter and an increase in average electricity rates charged to customers. We experienced flat natural gas revenues in the three months ended April 30, 2009 compared to the same period in fiscal 2008 as a result of increased natural gas consumption by our larger customer base, offset by a decrease in average natural gas rates charged to customers. We experienced higher natural gas revenues in the nine months ended April 30, 2009 compared to the same period in fiscal 2008 as a result of increased natural gas consumption by our larger customer base, including increases in natural gas consumption per meter, partially offset by a decrease in average natural gas rates charged to customers. As of April 30, 2009, IDT Energy's subscriber base consisted of approximately 414,000 meters compared to 343,000 meters as of April 30, 2008.

IDT Energy continues to expand its customer base opportunistically in New York with the goal of acquiring profitable customers in low-risk markets; more specifically in regions where receivables are guaranteed under purchase of receivables (POR) programs, billing is handled by the utility, and commodity procurement can be effectuated on a real-time market basis. IDT Energy also regularly monitors other deregulated markets to determine if they are ripe for entry. IDT Energy's management is encouraged by positive steps recently adopted by regulatory agencies and utilities in several other states to deregulate energy markets and is presently working on various options for geographic expansion.

Direct Cost of Revenues. IDT Energy purchases natural gas through wholesale suppliers and various utility companies, and electricity through the New York State competitive wholesale market for capacity, energy and ancillary services administrated by the NYISO—New York's Independent System Operator. IDT Energy's direct cost of revenues consisted of electricity cost of \$18.0 million and \$79.3 million in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009, respectively, compared to \$26.3 million and \$82.7 million in the same periods in fiscal 2008, and cost of natural gas of \$28.9 million and \$85.6 million in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009, respectively, compared to \$33.6 million and \$72.1 million in the same periods in fiscal 2008. Direct cost of revenues for electricity decreased in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009 compared to the same periods in fiscal 2008 primarily due to significant decreases in the average unit cost during the periods. Direct cost of revenues for natural gas decreased in the three months ended April 30, 2009 compared to the same period in fiscal 2008 primarily due to the decrease in the average unit cost. Direct cost of revenues for natural gas increased in the nine months ended April 30, 2009 compared to the same period in fiscal 2008 primarily due to the increase in consumption although the average unit cost decreased.

Gross margins in IDT Energy increased to 29.7% and 27.6% in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009, respectively, compared to 9.7% and 10.7% in the comparable periods in fiscal 2008. Comprising these figures were gross margins on electricity sales in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009 of 40.8% and 36.5%, respectively, compared to 12.0% and 12.1% in the comparable periods in fiscal 2008 and gross margins on natural gas sales in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009 of 20.4% and 16.7%, respectively, compared to 7.8% and 9.0% in the comparable periods in fiscal 2008. The gross margin increases in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009 compared to the same periods in fiscal 2008 occurred primarily because our average unit cost of electricity and natural gas decreased, particularly the decrease in our average unit cost of electricity in the three months ended April 30, 2009. IDT Energy plans to continue to target margins per unit that will achieve income from operations, and plans to take advantage of opportunities to maximize the margin per unit as they arise.

Table of Contents

Selling, General and Administrative. The increase in selling, general and administrative expenses in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009 as compared to the comparable periods in fiscal 2008 was due primarily to increases in billing related fees. In addition, the increase in selling, general and administrative expenses in the nine months ended April 30, 2009 as compared to the comparable period in fiscal 2008 was also due to increases in customer acquisition costs and compensation expense. The increase in billing related fees in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009 as compared to the comparable periods in fiscal 2008 was a result of increases in the fees charged by certain utilities for their POR programs, which reflected the increase in bad debt risk assumed by the utilities through these programs, as well as the transition of a significant portion of IDT Energy's unguaranteed receivables to a POR program in the three months ended April 30, 2009. Customer acquisition costs increased in the nine months ended April 30, 2009 as compared to the comparable period in fiscal 2008 primarily due to increases in the commission paid to acquire new customers subsequent to the first quarter of fiscal 2008. Customer acquisition costs decreased in the three months ended April 30, 2009 as compared to the comparable period in fiscal 2008 primarily due to less customers added in the current period. Compensation expense increased in the nine months ended April 30, 2009 as compared to the comparable period in fiscal 2008 primarily due to an increase in bonus expense, which is based on a profit sharing plan that was finalized subsequent to the first quarter of fiscal 2008, although compensation expense decreased in the three months ended April 30, 2009 as compared to the comparable period in fiscal 2008 due to a decrease in bonus expense reflecting a modification to the potential payment under the plan. As a percentage of total IDT Energy revenues, selling, general and administrative expenses increased from 8.1% and 7.9% in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2008, respectively, to 10.4% and 9.4% in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009, respectively, due to the increases in selling, general and administrative expenses described above.

Bad Debt Expense. The decrease in bad debt expense in the three months ended April 30, 2009 as compared to the comparable period in fiscal 2008 was due primarily to the transition of a significant portion of IDT Energy's unguaranteed receivables to a POR program in the three months ended April 30, 2009. The increase in bad debt expense in the nine months ended April 30, 2009 as compared to the comparable period in fiscal 2008 was due primarily to the increase in revenues and the resulting increase in the allowance for receivables that were not guaranteed under POR programs.

IDT Capital

In the first quarter of fiscal 2009, certain real estate investments that were historically included in Corporate were transferred to IDT Capital, and IDW Publishing was transferred from the IDT Internet Mobile Group in IDT Capital to IDT Local Media in IDT Capital. The other component of the IDT Internet Mobile Group, Zedge, is now included in the "all other" lines of business in IDT Capital. To the extent possible, comparative historical results for IDT Capital, IDT Telecom and Corporate have been reclassified and restated to conform to the current business segment presentation, although these results may not be indicative of the results which would have been achieved had the business segment structure been in effect during those periods.

	Th	ree moi Apri				Change		Ni	ne mon Apri				Change	
	2	009	2	2008	\$		%	2	2009	,	2008	\$		%
							(in mill	ions	s)					
Revenues														
Local Media	\$	7.1	\$	7.5	\$	(0.4)	(4.6)%	\$	23.4	\$	22.3	\$	1.1	5.2%
Alternative Energy		_	_	_	_	_	_		_	_	_	_	_	_
All other		3.0		5.6		(2.6)	(46.1)		9.4		16.8		(7.4)	(44.2)
Total revenues	\$	10.1	\$	13.1	\$	(3.0)	(22.4)%	\$	32.8	\$	39.1	\$	(6.3)	(16.1)%

Revenues. The decrease in IDT Capital's revenues in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009 compared to the similar periods in fiscal 2008 was due to a decrease in revenues in the "all other" lines of business, partially offset by an increase in Local Media revenues in the nine months ended April 30, 2009 compared to the similar period in fiscal 2008. Revenues in the "all other" lines of business decreased in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009 compared to the similar periods in fiscal 2008 primarily due to the disposition of IDT Global Israel, Ltd., our call center operations in Israel, in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, as well as the disposition of an additional business in the first quarter of fiscal 2009. These two businesses generated revenues of \$2.4 million and \$6.9 million in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2008, respectively. Local Media revenues decreased in the three months ended April 30, 2009 compared to the similar period in fiscal 2008 primarily as a result of a decrease in CTM Media Group revenues partially offset by an increase in IDW Publishing revenues. CTM Media Group revenues decreased primarily as a result of the economic slowdown which reduced its brochure distribution business. IDW Publishing revenues increased primarily due to sales of new titles related to recently released and upcoming action movies. Local Media revenues increased in the nine months ended April 30, 2009 compared to the similar periods in fiscal 2008 primarily as a result of an increase in IDW Publishing revenues partially offset by a decrease in CTM Media Group revenues. IDW Publishing revenues increased primarily as a result of an increase in titles sold. CTM Media Group revenues decreased primarily as a result of the economic slowdown which reduced its brochure distribution business in the third quarter of fiscal 2009, offset by rate increases, the addition of new customers and the addition of two new lines of business, all of which occurred in the first half of fiscal 2009.

Table of Contents

	Th	ree mor		ended		Change		N	ine mon Apri		nded		Change	
	2	009		800	\$		% (in mi		2009		2008	\$	&.	%
Direct cost of revenues							`		,					
Local Media	\$	2.9	\$	3.1	\$	(0.2)	(5.6)%	\$	9.9	\$	9.0	\$	0.9	9.8%
Alternative Energy		_	-	_	_		_		_	-	_	_	_	_
All other		0.2		5.2		(5.0)	(96.5)		1.2		14.0		(12.8)	(91.7)
Total direct cost of revenues	\$	3.1	\$	8.3	\$	(5.2)	(62.5)%	\$	11.1	\$	23.0	\$	(11.9)	(52.0)%

Direct Cost of Revenues. The decrease in direct cost of revenues in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009 compared to the similar periods in fiscal 2008 was primarily due to a decrease in the direct cost of revenues in the "all other" lines of business, which was primarily due to the disposition of IDT Global Israel in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008 and an additional business in the first quarter of fiscal 2009. These two businesses incurred direct cost of revenues of \$4.2 million and \$10.6 million in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2008, respectively.

IDT Capital's aggregate gross margin increased from 36.6% and 41.2% in three and nine months ended April 30, 2008, respectively, to 69.4% and 66.4% in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009, respectively, primarily due to the disposition of IDT Global Israel in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008. IDT Global Israel had negative gross margins throughout fiscal 2008. Local Media's gross margin increased from 58.5% in the three months ended April 30, 2008 to 59.0% in the three months ended April 30, 2009 primarily due to an increase in the gross margin of IDW Publishing, which generally experiences an improvement in gross margin as the sales volume of individual titles increases. Local Media's gross margin declined from 59.6% in the nine months ended April 30, 2008 to 57.9% in the nine months ended April 30, 2009 primarily due to the increase in direct cost of revenues which exceeded the increase in revenues.

	Th	ree mo	nths	ended				N	ine mon	ths 6	ended			
		Apri	il 30	,		Change	e		Apri	1 30,	,		Change	•
	2	009	2	2008	\$		%	2	2009	2	2008	\$		%
							(in mil	lior	ns)					
Selling, general and administrative expenses														
Local Media	\$	4.4	\$	5.2	\$	(0.8)	(16.9)%	\$	12.6	\$	15.9	\$	(3.3)	(20.5)%
Alternative Energy			_		_					-	_	_		
All other		3.9		8.3		(4.4)	(53.2)		12.1		31.7		(19.6)	(61.8)
Total selling, general and administrative														
expenses	\$	8.3	\$	13.5	\$	(5.2)	(38.8)%	\$	24.7	\$	47.6	\$	(22.9)	(47.8)%

Selling, General and Administrative. Selling, general and administrative expenses decreased in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009 compared to the similar periods in fiscal 2008 primarily due to a decrease in the selling, general and administrative expenses in the "all other" lines of business. The "all other" decrease was due to the divestiture of many non-profitable businesses during the past year as we continue to focus on our core operations, as well as a

decrease in legal fees related to ongoing litigation related to certain of our intellectual property, and in the second quarter of fiscal 2009, a \$1.7 million real estate tax refund for prior periods awarded to us on appeal. As a percentage of IDT Capital's aggregate revenues, selling, general and administrative expenses decreased from 103.4% and 121.8% in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2008, respectively, to 81.5% and 75.7% in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009, respectively.

Research and Development. Research and development expenses in three and nine months ended April 30, 2009 and 2008 consist of the following:

	Three months ended April 30,				Nine month April 3				
	2009 2008					2009		2008	
				(in mi	llioı	ns)			
Alternative Energy:									
AMSO	\$	0.1	\$	6.0	\$	3.2	\$	6.0	
Israel Energy Initiatives, Ltd.		0.6		0.2		2.4		0.2	
Total research and development expenses	\$	0.7	\$	6.2	\$	5.6	\$	6.2	

Table of Contents

Alternative Energy includes (1) AMSO, which commenced its research and development activities in the third quarter of fiscal 2008 upon its acquisition of AMSO, LLC, which is one of three holders of 10-year leases granted by the U.S. Bureau of Land Management to research, develop and demonstrate in-situ technologies for potential commercial shale oil production in western Colorado, and (2) IEI, our Israeli alternative energy venture, which was granted a license in Israel in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008 to explore certain public lands for potential production of shale oil. In April 2008, we acquired equity interests of approximately 90% in AMSO, LLC primarily in exchange for cash of \$5.5 million in transactions accounted for under the purchase method of accounting. We charged an aggregate of \$5.5 million to research and development expense at the acquisition date, which includes amounts assigned to AMSO, LLC's tangible and intangible assets to be used in its research and development project that have no alternative future use. In March 2009, Total acquired a 50% interest in AMSO, LLC in exchange for cash paid to us of \$3.2 million and Total's commitment to fund the majority of AMSO, LLC's capital requirements going forward. We no longer consolidate AMSO, LLC as of the closing of the transaction with Total, instead, we account for our 50% ownership interest in AMSO, LLC using the equity method.

Impairments. Impairments in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009 and 2008 consist of the following:

	ı	Three months April 30			on this ended is 130,	
		2009	2008	2009	2008	
			(in millio	ons)		
Goodwill:						
Local Media – CTM Media Group	\$	29.7 \$	\$	29.7	\$	
Local Media – WMET		1.2	_	1.2		
Local Media – IDW Publishing		_	_	1.8		
Total goodwill		30.9	_	32.7		_
FCC licenses			_	5.3		
Other assets		2.3	_	5.8		
Total impairments	\$	33.2 \$	— \$	43.8	\$	

In the second quarter of fiscal 2009, certain events and circumstances indicated that the fair value of the reporting units in IDT Capital may be below their carrying value. We measured the fair value of our reporting units by discounting their estimated future cash flows using an appropriate discount rate. The carrying value including goodwill of our IDW Publishing, CTM Media Group and WMET radio reporting units exceeded their estimated fair value, therefore we performed additional steps for these reporting units to determine whether an impairment of goodwill was required. As a result of this analysis, in the second and third quarters of fiscal 2009, we recorded aggregate preliminary goodwill impairment of \$32.7 million, which is subject to adjustment. The preliminary goodwill impairment reduced the carrying amount of IDW Publishing, CTM Media Group and WMET's goodwill to zero. We recorded the preliminary amounts because it was probable that goodwill was impaired, and the amount of impairment could be reasonably estimated. On April 30, 2009, IDT Capital's remaining goodwill was \$3.2 million. Calculating the fair value of the reporting units, and allocating the estimated fair value to all of the tangible assets, intangible assets and liabilities, requires significant estimates and assumptions. Should these estimates or assumptions prove to be incorrect, we may record additional goodwill impairment or adjust our preliminary impairment in future periods.

IDT Spectrum, which is included in the "all other" lines of business, recorded an impairment in the second quarter of fiscal 2009 of \$5.3 million, which reduced the carrying value of its FCC licenses to zero. The events and circumstances in the second quarter of fiscal 2009 described above indicated that the FCC licenses may be impaired.

We estimated that these FCC licenses had nominal value based on continuing operating losses and projected losses for the foreseeable future.

We recorded an impairment of \$3.5 million in the second quarter of fiscal 2009 which reduced the carrying value of IDT Global Israel's building in Israel. We retained exclusive control over the sale of this building after we disposed of 80% of the issued and outstanding shares of IDT Global Israel in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008. Once the building is sold, we will receive the net proceeds of the sale after the repayment of the obligations secured by the building. At April 30, 2009, the revised estimated sales price of the building net of costs to sell of \$12.7 million was included in "Other current assets" and the mortgage balance of \$6.0 million was included in "Other current liabilities".

Table of Contents

As a result of our conclusion that an interim impairment test of goodwill was required during the second quarter of fiscal 2009, we also assessed the recoverability of certain of our long-lived assets in accordance with SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets. The assessment of long-lived assets was based on projected undiscounted future cash flows of the long-lived asset groups compared to their carrying values. Our cash flow estimates were derived from our annual planning process and interim forecasting. We believe that our procedures for projecting future cash flows are reasonable and consistent with market conditions at the time of estimation. As a result of our assessment under SFAS 144, as of April 30, 2009, we recorded aggregate impairments of \$2.3 million related to certain leasehold interests.

In February 2009, we announced that we will move our headquarters in Newark, N.J. We are consolidating operations into considerably less office space in newly leased headquarters, leaving our current building at 520 Broad Street in Newark and moving a block away to 550 Broad Street. We will remain at 550 Broad Street on an interim basis while evaluating other long term relocation options. We leased 72,500 square feet at 550 Broad Street for one year commencing in May 2009, with options to renew the lease through May 2019. The minimum rent for the first year is \$0.9 million payable semi-annually. At April 30, 2009, the carrying value of the land, building and improvements at 520 Broad Street was \$50.5 million and the mortgage payable balance was \$26.1 million. We evaluated the land, building and improvements for impairment and determined that the carrying value was recoverable. We are assessing a range of options as to the future use of 520 Broad Street, some of which could result in a loss from a reduction in the carrying value of the land, building and improvements and such loss could be material.

Restructuring Charges. The restructuring charges in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009 were nil and \$1.6 million, respectively. The restructuring charges in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2008 were nil and \$0.9 million, respectively. These charges were primarily for severance related to the company-wide cost savings program and reduction in force. In the nine months ended April 30, 2008, IDT Spectrum reversed \$0.4 million of restructuring charges recorded in fiscal 2006 for a contract termination.

Gain on sale of interest in AMSO, LLC. In March 2009, Total acquired a 50% interest in AMSO, LLC in exchange for cash paid to us of \$3.2 million and Total's commitment to fund the majority of AMSO, LLC's capital requirements going forward. We recognized a gain of \$2.6 million in the three months ended April 30, 2009 in connection with the sale, which is included in Alternative Energy's loss from operations.

	Th	nree mor	ıths	ended											
		Apri	1 30	,	Change				April	30),		Change		
	2	2009	2	2008	\$		% 2009			009 2008		\$		%	
						(i	n mill	ion	s)						
Loss from operations															
Local Media	\$	(31.7)	\$	(1.3)	\$ (30.4)	nm		\$	(34.4)	\$	(4.2)	\$	(30.2)	(718.0)%	
Alternative Energy		1.8		(6.2)	8.0	129	9.5%		(3.0)		(6.2)		3.2	51.6	
All other		(4.4)		(10.2)	5.8	56	5.5		(20.1)		(35.2)		15.1	42.9	
Total loss from															
operations	\$	(34.3)	\$	(17.7)	\$ (16.6)	(93	3.4)%	\$	(57.5)	\$	(45.6)	\$	(11.9)	(26.1)%	

nm-not meaningful

Corporate

In the first quarter of fiscal 2009, certain real estate investments that were historically included in Corporate were transferred to IDT Capital. To the extent possible, comparative historical results for Corporate and IDT Capital have

been reclassified and restated to conform to the current business segment presentation, although these results may not be indicative of the results which would have been achieved had the business segment structure been in effect during those periods.

	Three months ended April 30,					Nine months ended Change April 30,							Change			
	2	2009		2008	\$		% (in mill		2009 ns)		2008			%		
General and administrative																
expenses	\$	5.8	\$	23.4	\$	(17.6)	(75.1)%	\$	22.9	\$	57.8	\$	(34.9)	(60.5)%		
Depreciation and																
amortization		0.3		0.4		(0.1)	(23.7)		0.9		1.3		(0.4)	(25.5)		
Restructuring charges		0.3		4.5		(4.2)	(94.1)		2.6		5.5		(2.9)	(52.6)		
Loss from operations	\$	6.4	\$	28.3	\$	(21.9)	(77.4)%	\$	26.4	\$	64.6	\$	(38.2)	(59.1)%		

Corporate costs include certain services, such as corporate executive compensation, consulting fees, treasury and accounts payable, tax and accounting services, human resources and payroll, corporate purchasing, corporate governance including Board of Directors' fees, internal and external audit, public and investor relations, corporate insurance, corporate legal, and business development, and other corporate-related general and administrative expenses, including, among others, facilities costs, charitable contributions and travel, as well as depreciation expense on corporate assets. Corporate does not generate any revenues, nor does it incur any direct cost of revenues.

Table of Contents

General and Administrative. Corporate general and administrative expenses decreased in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009 as compared to the similar periods in fiscal 2008 primarily due to decreases in payroll and related expenses, legal fees and charitable contributions, as well as an accrual of \$10.5 million in April 2008 related to a jury award for an employment matter. As a percentage of our total consolidated revenues from continuing operations, corporate general and administrative expenses decreased from 5.3% and 4.2% in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2008, respectively, to 1.5% and 1.8% in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009, respectively, because corporate general and administrative expenses decreased at a faster rate than the decrease in our consolidated revenues.

Restructuring Charges. Restructuring charges in the three and nine months ended April 30, 2009 and 2008 consisted primarily of severance related to a company-wide cost savings program. Restructuring charges in the nine months ended April 30, 2009 also include charges from a reduction in force in January 2009, and costs for the shutdown of certain facilities of \$0.7 million.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

General

Historically, we have satisfied our cash requirements through a combination of our existing cash, cash equivalents, cash flow from operating activities, proceeds from the sales and maturities of marketable securities and investments, arbitration awards and litigation settlements, sales of our equity securities including the exercise of stock options and sales under our employee stock purchase plan, borrowings from third parties, and the sales of businesses (e.g. Corbina Telecom, IDT Entertainment, our U.K.-based Toucan business and IDT Carmel's debt portfolios).

As of April 30, 2009, we had cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents, marketable securities and investments of \$217.3 million and working capital (current assets less current liabilities) of \$50.4 million. In addition, as of April 30, 2009, our assets of discontinued operations included cash and cash equivalents of \$0.2 million. As of April 30, 2009, investments included \$12.3 million in holdings of pooled investment vehicles, including hedge funds, of which \$4.4 million is included in "Investments-short term" and \$7.9 million is included in "Investments-long-term" in our consolidated balance sheet.

As of April 30, 2009, cash and cash equivalents of \$58.7 million that serve as collateral were restricted against letters of credit, and were included in "Restricted cash and cash equivalents" in our consolidated balance sheet. Also, as of April 30, 2009, marketable securities of \$5.2 million were restricted primarily against letters of credit and were included in "Marketable securities" in our consolidated balance sheet. The letters of credit outstanding at April 30, 2009 were primarily collateral for IDT Energy's purchases of natural gas through wholesale bilateral contracts with suppliers and various utility companies and electric capacity, energy and ancillary services through the wholesale markets, as well as to secure mortgage repayments on various buildings.

As of April 30, 2009, "Cash and cash equivalents" in our condensed consolidated balance sheet included approximately \$10 million that was held pursuant to regulatory requirements related to our European prepaid payment services business.

Our marketable securities at April 30, 2009 included auction rate securities with a par value of \$14.3 million. The underlying asset for these securities is preferred stock of the Federal National Mortgage Association (Fannie Mae) or the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (Freddie Mac). The fair values of the auction rate securities, which cannot be corroborated by the market, were estimated based on the value of the underlying assets and our assumptions. At July 31, 2008, we determined that there was an other than temporary decline in the value of these auction rate securities, and accordingly, recorded a \$7.2 million expense and reduced the auction rate securities

balance to an estimated fair value of \$7.1 million. On September 7, 2008, the Federal Housing Finance Agency (FHFA) placed Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac into conservatorship administered by the FHFA. One result of the conservatorship and related actions of the FHFA was a significant decline in the market value of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac's preferred stock. In the nine months ended April 30, 2009, we determined that there was an additional other than temporary decline in the value of these auction rate securities, and accordingly, recorded a \$6.8 million charge that was included in "Other expense (income), net" in our condensed consolidated statement of operations and reduced the auction rate securities balance to an estimated fair value of \$0.3 million.

On September 30, 2008 and October 8, 2008, we received notices from the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) that we were no longer in compliance with the NYSE's \$100 million market capitalization threshold and the \$1.00 average closing price over a consecutive 30-day trading period requirement, respectively, required for continued listing. We submitted a plan to the NYSE to regain compliance, and that plan was accepted. The NYSE monitors compliance with the plan and may commence delisting procedures prior to either deadline if we fail to meet the milestones set forth in our plan. We have until March 2010 to regain compliance with the \$100 million market capitalization standard. In addition, according to the rules of the NYSE, the NYSE will promptly initiate suspension and delisting procedures with respect to a listed company that is determined to have average global market capitalization over a consecutive 30 trading-day period of less than \$25 million. The NYSE has reduced this \$25 million threshold to \$15 million until June 30, 2009. We are currently in compliance with this reduced threshold. On April 8, 2009, the NYSE notified us that the stock price for each of our listed equity securities was above the NYSE's minimum requirement of a \$1.00 average share price over the preceding 30 trading days and a \$1.00 share price on the close of the last trading day of the six-month cure period (April 8, 2009), thus restoring our compliance with the minimum share price requirement for continued listing on the NYSE.

Table of Contents

	Nine months ended April 30,					
		2009	2008			
	(in millions)					
Cash flows (used in) provided by						
Operating activities	\$	(96.7) \$	(115.3)			
Investing activities		51.2	202.1			
Financing activities		(15.2)	(74.0)			
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents		(4.7)	3.9			
(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents from continuing operations		(65.4)	16.7			
Net cash provided by (used in) discontinued operations		26.8	(40.9)			
•						
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents	\$	(38.6) \$	(24.2)			

Operating Activities

Our cash flow from operations varies significantly from quarter to quarter and from year to year, depending on our operating results and the timing of operating cash receipts and payments, specifically trade accounts receivable and trade accounts payable.

As of April 30, 2009, our company-wide cost savings program to better align our infrastructure to our current business needs, and our plan to effect a reduction in force have resulted in the termination of approximately 1,420 employees since the third quarter of fiscal 2006. Severance and other payments related to these cost savings programs were \$19.1 million and \$23.6 million in the nine months ended April 30, 2009 and 2008, respectively. As of April 30, 2009, \$7.8 million remained accrued for the ultimate payment of severance and other costs related to these cost savings initiatives.

As a result of an IRS audit of our federal tax returns for fiscal years 2001, 2002, 2003 and 2004, we owed approximately \$75 million in taxes for fiscal 2001, approximately \$1 million for adjustments carried forward to fiscal 2005 and 2006 and \$39.5 million in interest. In connection therewith, we paid \$80.0 million of the amount owed between July 2008 and January 2009. On January 27, 2009, we entered into a modified installment agreement with the IRS, whereby we agreed to pay the remaining amounts owed to the IRS for fiscal years 2001 – 2004 by June 2009. During the third quarter of fiscal 2009, we paid \$25.0 million to the IRS on our outstanding balance. By June 15, 2009, we will have paid an additional \$13.4 million to fully satisfy our obligation under the modified agreement. The final payment may be reduced if the IRS waives the penalties. In December 2008, the IRS commenced an audit of our federal tax returns for fiscal years 2005, 2006 and 2007. In May 2009, the IRS assessed a liability of \$1.2 million for fiscal year 2005 which represents the approximately \$1 million previously agreed to plus interest. In addition, an audit in the Netherlands of one of our subsidiaries was completed in October 2008 that resulted in a settlement of \$4.4 million including interest, which was paid in December 2008.

On July 10, 2008, the FCC released a Notice of Apparent Liability ("NAL") of \$1.3 million related to one of our international telecommunications service agreements. The NAL claims that we violated section 220 of the Telecom Act, and section 43.51 of the FCC's rules by willfully and repeatedly failing to file with the FCC, within thirty days of execution, a copy of an agreement with Telecommunications D'Haiti S.A.M. and each of four amendments thereto governing, among other things, the exchange of services, routing of traffic, accounting rates, and division of tolls on the U.S.-Haiti route. On October 29, 2008, the FCC released an order adopting an October 29, 2008 Consent Decree entered into between us and the FCC's Enforcement Bureau resolving the matter. As part of the Consent Decree, in November 2008 we made a voluntary contribution to the United States Treasury in the amount of \$0.4 million and

will further develop our FCC compliance plan.

We are currently subject to audits by different European taxing authorities, including audits relating to VAT that we have not collected for calling cards sold to distributors who, in turn, resell such cards in various jurisdictions in Europe. On September 4, 2008, a Swedish court granted an application made by the Swedish Tax Agency to seize SEK 100 million (\$12.1 million) of assets owned by one of our subsidiaries, Inter Direct Tel Ltd., as security for payment of VAT. Inter Direct Tel appealed the seizure order and on October 6, 2008, the appellate court reversed the lower court's seizure order. On December 17, 2008, the Swedish Tax Agency sent Inter Direct Tel an Audit Memo describing its reasoning for a VAT assessment of approximately SEK 112 million (\$14.4 million) and SEK 22 million (\$2.9 million) in penalties. On March 27, 2009, Inter Direct Tel responded to the comments in the Audit Memo. On June 5, 2009, Inter Direct Tel received a re-assessment from the Swedish Tax Agency in the same amounts assessed in the Audit Memo with the payment due on July 13, 2009. We intend to appeal the re-assessment and request a suspension of the payment obligation until the matter is addressed by the appropriate court. As we intend to challenge the re-assessment, we cannot be certain of the ultimate outcome. Imposition of assessments as a result of tax and regulatory audits could have an adverse affect on our results of operations, cash flows and financial condition.

Table of Contents

Investing Activities

In the nine months ended April 30, 2009 and 2008, proceeds from sales and maturities of marketable securities net of purchases of marketable securities were \$89.3 million and \$231.2 million, respectively.

Our capital expenditures were \$10.7 million in the nine months ended April 30, 2009 compared to \$13.9 million in the nine months ended April 30, 2008. We currently anticipate that total capital expenditures for all of our divisions for the year ending April 30, 2010 will be in the \$7.5 million to \$12.5 million range. In May 2009, we completed the migration of our global network from dedicated capacity time-division multiplexing (TDM) circuits to burstable Internet protocol circuits, which utilize connectivity capacity more efficiently and results in lower overall cost. We expect to fund our capital expenditures with our cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities on hand. From time to time, we may also finance a portion of our capital expenditures through capital leases.

We purchased our headquarters office building in February 2008 for \$24.8 million in cash plus the assumption of the remainder of the existing mortgage on the building in the amount of \$26.9 million. In addition, an affiliate of the seller repaid its \$16.9 million note payable to us that was secured by an interest in the building.

In the nine months ended April 30, 2009 and 2008, cash used for investments and acquisitions was \$2.5 million and \$21.7 million, respectively. In fiscal 2009, \$1.0 million was used for a short-term certificate of deposit, \$0.6 million was used to acquire rights to use certain intangible assets and \$0.9 million was used for a capital contribution to AMSO, LLC. The fiscal 2008 amount included cash used for our investment in AMSO LLC of \$5.5 million and additional investments in pooled investment vehicles including hedge funds of \$15.9 million. We received \$26.4 million in the nine months ended April 30, 2009 from the redemption of certain of our investments in pooled investment vehicles. We sold certain of our investments in the nine months ended April 30, 2008 for \$10.9 million and recorded an aggregate gain of \$3.0 million from the sales.

Restricted cash and cash equivalents increased \$54.5 million in the nine months ended April 30, 2009, as a result of our shifting balances from restricted marketable securities to restricted cash and cash equivalents, and decreased \$0.8 million in the nine months ended April 30, 2008. Restricted cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities serve as collateral for letters of credit for IDT Energy's purchases of natural gas and electric capacity, energy and ancillary services, as well as to secure mortgage repayments on various buildings.

In March 2009, Total acquired a 50% interest in AMSO, LLC in exchange for cash paid to us of \$3.2 million and Total's commitment to fund the majority of AMSO, LLC's capital requirements going forward.

We sold a building in Newark, New Jersey in the nine months ended April 30, 2008 and received cash of \$4.9 million from the sale. We recorded a \$4.1 million gain on the sale of the building in the nine months ended April 30, 2008.

Financing Activities

We distributed cash of \$2.3 million and \$3.9 million in the nine months ended April 30, 2009 and 2008, respectively, to the minority equity holders of subsidiaries.

On September 23, 2008, we sold a 10% ownership interest in Zedge to Shaman II, L.P. for cash of \$1.0 million. One of the limited partners in Shaman II, L.P. was a former employee of ours. In the nine months ended April 30, 2009, we sold a 10% minority interest in Israel Energy Initiatives, Ltd., our alternative energy company in Israel, for cash of \$0.2 million.

In the nine months ended April 30, 2008, we received proceeds of \$0.1 million from the exercise of our stock options, and \$0.8 million from purchases under our employee stock purchase plan.

Repayments of capital lease obligations were \$6.0 million and \$22.7 million in the nine months ended April 30, 2009 and 2008, respectively. We also repaid other borrowings of \$1.6 million and \$3.0 million in the nine months ended April 30, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

In June 2006, our Board of Directors authorized a stock repurchase program for the repurchase of up to an aggregate of 8.3 million shares of our Class B common stock and common stock, without regard to class. On December 17, 2008, our Board of Directors increased the aggregate number of shares of our Class B common stock and common stock, without regard to class, that we are authorized to repurchase under the stock repurchase program from the 3.3 million shares that remained available for repurchase to 8.3 million shares. In the nine months ended April 30, 2009, we repurchased an aggregate of 2.4 million shares of Class B common stock and 1.4 million shares of common stock for an aggregate purchase price of \$6.5 million. In the nine months ended April 30, 2008, we repurchased an aggregate of 1.8 million shares of Class B common stock and 0.2 million shares of common stock for an aggregate purchase price of \$44.5 million. As of April 30, 2009, 7.0 million shares remained available for repurchase under the stock repurchase program.

Table of Contents

In the nine months ended April 30, 2008, we acquired an aggregate of 0.1 million shares of our Class B common stock held by certain of our employees for \$0.8 million to satisfy the employees' tax withholding obligations in connection with the lapsing of restrictions on restricted stock awards.

Contractual Obligations and Other Commercial Commitments

Smaller reporting companies are not required to provide the information required by this item.

Changes in Trade Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Gross trade accounts receivable decreased to \$158.7 million at April 30, 2009 from \$200.2 million at July 31, 2008 mostly due to collections of accounts receivable and reductions in revenues. The allowance for doubtful accounts as a percentage of gross trade accounts receivable increased to 13.0% at April 30, 2009 from 10.8% at July 31, 2008 mainly because the allowance balance decreased 4.4% while the gross trade accounts receivable balance decreased 20.7%.

Other Sources and Uses of Resources

We intend to, where appropriate, make limited strategic investments and small acquisitions to complement, expand and/or enter into new businesses. In considering acquisitions and investments, we search for opportunities to profitably grow our existing businesses, to add qualitatively to the range of businesses in our portfolio and to achieve operational synergies. At this time, we cannot guarantee that we will be presented with acquisition opportunities that meet our return on investment criteria, or that our efforts to make acquisitions that meet our criteria will be successful. In addition, from time to time, we have made strategic dispositions of certain businesses (such as Corbina Telecom, IDT Entertainment, our U.K.-based Toucan business and IDT Carmel). We continually evaluate our portfolio for opportunities to monetize select businesses where we deem appropriate.

We incurred a loss from continuing operations in each of the five years in the period ended July 31, 2008 and in the nine months ended April 30, 2009. We incurred a net loss in the nine months ended April 30, 2009, and in fiscal 2008, fiscal 2006, fiscal 2005 and fiscal 2004, and would have incurred a net loss in fiscal 2007 except for a gain on the sale of IDT Entertainment. We also had negative cash flow from operating activities in each of the three years in the period ended July 31, 2008 and in the nine months ended April 30, 2009. We had an accumulated deficit at April 30, 2009 of \$259.1 million. Historically, we satisfied our cash requirements primarily through a combination of our existing cash and cash equivalents, proceeds from the sale of businesses, proceeds from the sales and maturities of marketable securities and investments, arbitration awards and litigation settlements, and borrowings from third parties. We currently expect our operations in the next twelve months and the balance of cash, cash equivalents, marketable securities and pooled investment vehicles including hedge funds that we held as of April 30, 2009 will be sufficient to meet our currently anticipated working capital and capital expenditure requirements, and to fund any potential operating cash flow deficits within any of our segments for at least the next twelve months. The foregoing is based on a number of assumptions, including that we will collect on our receivables, effectively manage our working capital requirements, prevail in legal actions and other claims initiated against us, and maintain our revenue levels and liquidity. Predicting these matters is particularly difficult in the current worldwide economic situation and overall decline in consumer demand. Failure to generate sufficient revenue and operating income could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition and cash flows. The recoverability of assets is highly dependent on the ability of management to execute its business plan.

If our results differ from our current expectations, or if we acquire the business or assets of another company, we might need to raise additional capital from equity or debt sources. We have been discussing with several financial institutions additional sources of financing to supplement our existing capital resources. There can be no assurance

that we will be able to raise additional capital on favorable terms or at all.

Foreign Currency Risk

Revenues from our international operations represented 34.7% and 33.6% of our consolidated revenues from continuing operations for the nine months ended April 30, 2009 and 2008, respectively. A significant portion of these revenues is in currencies other than the U.S. Dollar. Our foreign currency exchange risk is somewhat mitigated by our ability to offset the majority of these non U.S. Dollar-denominated revenues with operating expenses that are paid in the same currencies. While the impact from fluctuations in foreign exchange rates affects our revenue and expenses denominated in foreign currencies, the net amount of our exposure to foreign currency exchange rate changes at the end of each reporting period is generally not material. From time to time, we may enter into foreign exchange hedges, although there were none outstanding since the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any "off-balance sheet arrangements," as defined in relevant SEC regulations that are reasonably likely to have a current or future effect on our financial condition, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources.

Table of Contents

Recently Issued Accounting Standards Not Yet Adopted

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141 (Revised 2007), Business Combinations. SFAS 141(R) establishes principles and requirements for how the acquirer: (a) recognizes and measures the identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities assumed, and any noncontrolling interest in the acquiree, (b) recognizes and measures the goodwill acquired in the business combination or a gain from a bargain purchase, and (c) determines what information to disclose to enable users of the financial statements to evaluate the nature and financial effects of the business combination. SFAS 141(R) requires the acquiring entity in a business combination to recognize the full fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the transaction at the acquisition date; in-process research and development will be recorded at fair value as an indefinite-lived intangible asset at the acquisition date; the immediate expense recognition of transaction costs; changes in deferred tax asset valuation allowances and income tax uncertainties after the acquisition date generally will affect income tax expense; and restructuring plans will be accounted for separately from the business combination, among other things, In April 2009, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position (FSP) 141(R)-1, Accounting for Assets Acquired and Liabilities Assumed in a Business Combination That Arise from Contingencies, which amends and clarifies SFAS 141(R) with regards to the initial recognition and measurement, subsequent measurement and accounting, and disclosure of assets and liabilities arising from contingencies in a business combination. We are required to apply SFAS 141(R) and FSP 141(R)-1 to business combinations with an acquisition date on or after August 1, 2009. SFAS 141(R) fundamentally changes many aspects of existing accounting requirements for business combinations. As such, if we enter into any business combinations after the adoption of SFAS 141(R), a transaction may significantly impact our financial position and results of operations, but not our cash flows, when compared to acquisitions accounted for under current US GAAP.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements—an amendment of ARB No. 51. SFAS 160 clarifies that a noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary is an ownership interest in the consolidated entity that should be reported as equity in the consolidated financial statements. Also, SFAS 160 requires consolidated net income (loss) to include the amounts attributable to both the parent and the noncontrolling interest, and it requires disclosure of the amounts of net income (loss) attributable to the parent and to the noncontrolling interest. Finally, SFAS 160 requires increases and decreases in the noncontrolling ownership interest amount to be accounted for as equity transactions, and the gain or loss on the deconsolidation of a subsidiary will be measured using the fair value of any noncontrolling equity investment rather than the carrying amount of the retained investment. We are required to adopt SFAS 160 on August 1, 2009. Upon the adoption of SFAS 160, we will change the classification and presentation of noncontrolling interest in our financial statements, which is currently referred to as minority interests. We are still evaluating the impact that SFAS 160 will have on our consolidated financial statements, but we do not expect SFAS 160 to have a material impact on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In April 2008, the FASB issued FSP No. FAS 142-3, Determination of the Useful Life of Intangible Assets. This FSP amends the factors that should be considered in developing renewal or extension assumptions used to determine the useful life of a recognized intangible asset under SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. We are required to adopt FSP 142-3 on August 1, 2009. The guidance in FSP 142-3 for determining the useful life of a recognized intangible asset shall be applied prospectively to intangible assets acquired after adoption, and the disclosure requirements shall be applied prospectively to all intangible assets recognized as of, and subsequent to, adoption. We are currently evaluating the impact of FSP 142-3 on our consolidated financial statements.

In April 2009, the FASB issued FSP No. FAS 115-2 and FAS 124-2, Recognition and Presentation of Other-Than-Temporary Impairments. This FSP amends the guidance in US GAAP for assessing whether an impairment of a debt security is other than temporary, and revises the presentation and disclosure in the financial statements of other than temporary impairments of debt and equity securities. We were required to adopt FSP 115-2 on May 1, 2009. In addition, in April 2009, the SEC amended Topic 5.M. in the Staff Accounting Bulletin Series

entitled Other Than Temporary Impairment of Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities to exclude debt securities from its scope. Topic 5.M. as amended maintains the staff's previous views related to equity securities. We are currently evaluating the impact of FSP 115-2 on our consolidated financial statements. We do not expect the amendment to Topic 5.M. to have a material impact on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In April 2009, the FASB issued FSP No. FAS 107-1 and APB 28-1, Interim Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments, which amends SFAS 107, Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments, to require disclosures about fair value of financial instruments for interim reporting periods of publicly traded companies as well as in annual financial statements. This FSP also amends APB Opinion No. 28, Interim Financial Reporting, to require those disclosures in summarized financial information at interim reporting periods. The FSP also requires entities to disclose the methods and significant assumptions used to estimate fair value of financial instruments in interim financial statements, and to highlight any changes in the methods and assumptions from prior periods. FSP 107-1 became effective for our financial statements beginning on May 1, 2009. We will include the disclosures required by FSP 107-1 in our consolidated financial statements for our first quarter ending October 31, 2009.

Table of Contents

In May 2009, the FASB issued SFAS No. 165, Subsequent Events, to establish principles and requirements for subsequent events, in particular: (a) the period after the balance sheet date during which management of a reporting entity shall evaluate events or transactions that may occur for potential recognition or disclosure in the financial statements, (b) the circumstances under which an entity shall recognize events or transactions occurring after the balance sheet date in its financial statements, and (c) the disclosures that an entity shall make about events or transactions that occurred after the balance sheet date. SFAS 165 is effective prospectively for interim or annual financial periods ending after June 15, 2009. SFAS 165 should not result in significant changes in the subsequent events that we report in our financial statements, because it does not change the previous recognition and disclosure guidance in the accounting literature and it does not change the date through which we were expected to evaluate subsequent events. This statement requires management to disclose the date through which subsequent events have been evaluated, which we will begin to disclose in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ending July 31, 2009.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risks

Smaller reporting companies are not required to provide the information required by this item.

Item 4T. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures. Our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) or 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended), as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Based on this evaluation, as a result of the material weakness described in Item 9A to Part II of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended July 31, 2008 that has not been remediated as of April 30, 2009, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded as of April 30, 2009, that our disclosure controls and procedures were ineffective and were not designed to ensure that material information relating to our and our consolidated subsidiaries would be accumulated and communicated to them by others within those entities to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

As described in Item 9A to Part II of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended July 31, 2008, during the audit of our financial statements as of July 31, 2008 and for the year then ended, a material weakness existed relating to our lack of internal expertise and resulting failure to properly execute control procedures designed to prepare and evaluate the annual testing for impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets not subject to amortization as required by SFAS No. 142, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets." This material weakness resulted in a material audit adjustment for an impairment charge with respect to goodwill. Consequently, our consolidated financial statements as of July 31, 2008 and for the year then ended properly reflected the results of the goodwill impairment testing.

To remediate this material weakness, we will perform a more rigorous fact gathering process and consideration of the relevant valuation assumptions in our Step 1 analysis under SFAS 142. In addition, in May 2009, certain of our personnel received training on valuation techniques to improve our internal expertise. We will also enhance and expand our review procedures to include additional personnel who will be involved in a timelier manner. We believe these measures should be adequate to address the material weakness that existed at July 31, 2008 related to the annual testing for impairment required by SFAS 142. Our remediation effort is currently on schedule to be completed when our next annual testing for impairment required by SFAS 142 will be performed. Regarding our interim test for impairment conducted for our fiscal quarter ended April 30, 2009, we engaged a valuation consulting firm to assist us with our analysis since our remediation effort was not complete. We will continue to evaluate and monitor our efforts to remediate the material weakness and will take all appropriate action when and as necessary to ensure we have effective internal controls over financial reporting.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting. There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended April 30, 2009 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Table of Contents

PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

Legal proceedings in which we are involved are more fully described in Note 13 to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 1 to Part I of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

We are subject to other legal proceedings, which have arisen in the ordinary course of business and have not been finally adjudicated. Although there can be no assurances in this regard, in the opinion of management, none of the legal proceedings to which we are a party will have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, cash flows, or our financial condition.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Smaller reporting companies are not required to provide the information required by this item.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

The following table provides information with respect to purchases by the Company of its shares during the third quarter of fiscal 2009. All share and average price per share amounts in the following table have been restated to reflect the one-for-three reverse stock split which was effective on February 24, 2009.

				Total Number	Maximum
				of Shares	Number of
				Purchased as	Shares that
				part of	May Yet Be
	Total	Average Annour		Publicly	Purchased
	Number of			Announced	Under the
	Shares			Plans or	Plans or
	Purchased	po	er Share	Programs	Programs (1)
February 1–28, 2009 (2)	885,118	\$	1.03	885,052	7,448,281
March 1–31, 2009 (3)	217,760	\$	1.08	217,760	7,230,521
April 1–30, 2009 (4)	278,315	\$	1.17	277,538	6,952,983
Total	1,381,193	\$	1.06	1,380,350	

⁽¹⁾ Under our existing stock repurchase program, approved by our Board of Directors on June 13, 2006, we were authorized to repurchase up to an aggregate of 8.3 million shares of our Class B common stock and our common stock, without regard to class. On December 17, 2008, our Board of Directors (i) approved a one-for-three reverse stock split of all classes of our common stock which was effective on February 24, 2009, and (ii) amended the stock repurchase program to increase the aggregate number of shares of our Class B common stock and common stock, without regard to class, that we are authorized to repurchase from the 3.3 million shares that remained available for repurchase to 8.3 million shares.

⁽²⁾ Consists of 383,509 shares of common stock and 501,543 shares of Class B common stock purchased pursuant to the stock repurchase program, resulting in an aggregate of 7,448,281 shares that may yet be purchased under the stock repurchase program, and 66 shares of Class B common stock that were tendered by employees of the Company to satisfy the employees' tax withholding obligations in connection with the vesting of awards of restricted stock. Such shares are repurchased by the Company based on their fair market value on the trading day immediately prior to the vesting date.

- (3) Consists of 21,500 shares of common stock and 196,260 shares of Class B common stock purchased pursuant to the stock repurchase program, resulting in an aggregate of 7,230,521 shares that may yet be purchased under the stock repurchase program.
- (4) Consists of 277,538 shares of Class B common stock purchased pursuant to the stock repurchase program, resulting in an aggregate of 6,952,983 shares that may yet be purchased under the stock repurchase program, and 777 shares of Class B common stock that were tendered by employees of the Company to satisfy the employees' tax withholding obligations in connection with the vesting of awards of restricted stock. Such shares are repurchased by the Company based on their fair market value on the trading day immediately prior to the vesting date.

Item 3.	Defaults Upon Senior Securities
None	
Item 4.	Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders
None	
46	

Table of Contents

Item 5.	Other Information
None	
Item 6.	Exhibits
Exhibit Number	Description
2.1	Purchase and Sale Contract among the Registrant, IDT Carmel, Inc., IDT Carmel Portfolio Management LLC, and FFPM Carmel Holdings I LLC, and its predecessors and Sherman Originator III LLC dated January 30, 2009. Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K, filed February 5, 2009.
10.1	Employment Agreement, dated April 29, 2009, between the Registrant and Bill Pereira. Incorporated by reference to Form 8-K, filed May 1, 2009.
31.1*	Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 17 CFR 240.13a-14(a), as adopted pursuant to §302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
31.2*	Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 17 CFR 240.13a-14(a), as adopted pursuant to §302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.1*	Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.2*	Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
*	Filed herewith.
47	

Table of Contents

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

IDT CORPORATION

June 9, 2009 By: /s/ JAMES A. COURTER

James A. Courter

Vice-Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

June 9, 2009 By: /s/ BILL PEREIRA

Bill Pereira

Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer